
                         

AGENDA 
OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL & CULTURAL 

 FACILITIES TRUST 
SPECIAL MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING OF THE TRUSTEES 

MONDAY, DECEMBER 19, 2016 – 2:00 P.M. 
ALLIANCE CONFERENCE ROOM 

105 N. HUDSON AVENUE, SUITE 101  
OKLAHOMA CITY, OK  73102 

 
Presiding:  David Rainbolt, Chair 
 

The following agenda items may include actions, approvals, disapprovals and voting as desired 
by the Trustees of the Oklahoma City Industrial & Cultural Facilities Trust (“Trust”): 

 
 

739 Determination of Quorum 
 
740 Consider and Approve Minutes of Special Meeting held Wednesday, August 24, 

2015 
 
741 Report and Receive Oklahoma City & Cultural Facilities Trust, a Component Unit 

of the City of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma Auditor’s Reports and Financial 
Statements June 30, 2015 and 2016 

 
742 Report and Receive Quarterly Financial Statements for the Oklahoma City 

Industrial & Cultural Facilities Trust for Period Ended September 30, 2016 
 
743 Resolution approving First Amendment to Ground Lease, Subordination 

Agreement, Mortgage, Ground Lease Estoppel letter and other documents related 
to the development of land owned by the Trust at 123 N.W. 5th Street, Oklahoma 
City, Okla. and related financing 

 
744 Resolution electing and appointing officers of the Trust and authorizing its 

officers to act for and on behalf of the Trust.  
 
745  Report from General Manager 
 
746 Adjournment 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
 

Board of Trustees 
Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements  

We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of the Oklahoma City Industrial and 
Cultural Facilities Trust (the Trust), a component unit of the City of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, which 
are comprised of the statements of net position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related statements 
of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes to the basic financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Trust’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s 
internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Trust as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in its financial position and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, 
although not part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context.  We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods 
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 11, 
2016, on our consideration of the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Trust’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 

 
 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 
November 11, 2016 
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Introduction 

This management’s discussion and analysis of the financial performance of Oklahoma City Industrial and 
Cultural Facilities Trust (the Trust), a discretely presented component unit of the City of Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma (the City), provides an overview of the Trust’s financial activities for the years ended June 30, 
2016 and 2015.  It should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements of the Trust.   

Financial Highlights  

 Cash and cash equivalents increased by $72,567 and decreased by $15,427 in 2016 and 2015, 
respectively. 

 The City provided $400,000 in 2015 to help fund the operations of the Journal Record Building.  The 
Trust will return the unused portion of $122,882 to the City in 2016. 

 The Trust finalized the sale of the Journal Record Building for approximately $4.39 million.   

 The Trust’s net position increased by $38,248 in 2016 and by $1,656,614 in 2015. 

Using This Annual Report 

The Trust’s financial statements consist of three statements—a statement of net position; a statement of 
revenues, expenses and changes in net position; and a statement of cash flows.  These statements provide 
information about the activities of the Trust.  The Trust accounts for its operations as an enterprise fund.  
Enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting, similar to private business enterprises. 

Statements of Net Position 

The statements of net position present the assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and net 
position.  The purpose of the statements of net position is to present to the readers of the financial 
statements a fiscal snapshot of the Trust. 

From the data presented, readers of the statements of net position are able to determine the assets 
available to continue the operations of the Trust.  They are also able to determine how much the Trust 
owes vendors and lenders. 

Total assets of the Trust decreased by $57,406 in 2016 and $219,681 in 2015.  In 2016, capital assets 
decreased by $4.39 million and the note receivable increased by $4.25 million due to the sale of the 
Journal Record Building on July 9, 2015.  The changes to capital assets and the note receivable were 
offset by an increase in current assets.  The decrease in 2015 was a result of an additional impairment loss 
recorded in connection with the sale.   



 

 4 

Capital assets decreased by $4.39 million in 2016 and $210,966 in 2015.  The 2016 decrease was the 
direct result of the sale of the Journal Record Building, and the decrease in 2015 was due to impairment 
losses on the building.  Debt related to the building decreased in 2015 by $1,168,962 and was unchanged 
in 2016.  The 2015 decrease was the result of debt forgiveness by the City. 

Total liabilities decreased in 2016 by $94,653 and increased by $1,876,295 in 2015.  Accounts payable 
was reduced by $56,757, and the amount due to the City decreased by $37,897 in 2016.  In 2015, the 
decrease was a result of the City’s forgiveness of $879,500 in accrued interest and a portion of the notes 
payable related to the Journal Record Building of $1,168,962.   

Table 1:  Condensed Statements of Net Position 

2016 2015 Change % Change 2014 Change % Change

Current assets 1,072,674$     996,217$        76,457$          8% 1,004,932$     (8,715)$           -1%
Note receivable 4,255,171       -                      4,255,171       100% -                      -                      0%
Capital assets 953,266          5,342,300       (4,389,034)      100% 5,553,266       (210,966)         -4%

Total assets 6,281,111       6,338,517       (57,406)           -1% 6,558,198       (219,681)         -3%

Note payable 4,255,171       4,255,171       -                      0% 5,424,133       (1,168,962)      -22%
Accrued interest -                      -                      -                      0% 879,500          (879,500)         -100%
Current liabilities 126,572          221,225          (94,653)           -43% 49,058            172,167          351%

Total liabilities 4,381,743       4,476,396       (94,653)           -2% 6,352,691       (1,876,295)      -30%

Net investment in capital assets 953,266          1,087,129       (133,863)         -12% 1,229,133       (142,004)         -12%
Unrestricted (deficit) 946,102          774,992          171,110          22% (1,023,626)      1,798,618       -176%

Net position 1,899,368$     1,862,121$    37,247$         2% 205,507$        1,656,614$     806%

 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

The statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position report how the Trust’s net position 
changed during the fiscal year.  All current year revenues and expenses are included regardless of when 
cash is received or paid.  For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the change in net position was a 
gain of $37,247 and $1,656,614, respectively.  The 2015 gain was primarily driven by the debt 
forgiveness by the City offset by an additional impairment loss.   

Table 2:  Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

2016 2015 Change % Change 2014 Change % Change

Rental income 61,813$          65,272$          (3,459)$           -5% 132,766$        (67,494)$         -51%
Other 16,388            18,231            (1,843)             -10% 21,734            (3,503)             -16%

Total revenues 78,201            83,503            (5,302)             -6% 154,500          (70,997)           -46%

Professional and trust fees 40,333            77,011            (36,678)           -48% 81,444            (4,433)             -5%
Journal Record Building 18,471            362,155          (343,684)         -95% 360,545          1,610              0%
Parking lot expense 6,565              33,796            (27,231)           -81% 34,527            (731)                -2%
Depreciation expense -                      -                      -                      0% 236,798          (236,798)         -100%
Management fees 26,251            25,000            1,251              5% 50,000            (25,000)           -50%
Administrative and general 

expense 8,016              5,644              2,372              42% 19,130            (13,486)           -70%

Total office expenses 99,636            503,606          (403,970)         -80% 782,444          (278,838)         -36%

Nonoperating income (expenses) 58,682            2,076,717       (2,018,035)      -97% (5,248,799)      7,325,516       -140%

Change in net position 37,247$          1,656,614$    (1,619,367)$   -98% (5,876,743)$    7,533,357$     -128%

 



 

5 

Economic Factors 

The Trust owns and leases the parking lot adjacent to the Journal Record Building.  The Trust sold the 
commercial unit and initiated a lease for the parking lot (with an option to purchase) on July 9, 2015.  The 
sale resulted in an impairment loss to the Trust, which was recorded in the accompanying 2015 financial 
statements.  The Trust financed the sale of the building.  Future principal payments on the note will be 
used to reduce the debt owed to the City.  Interest received on the note will capitalize a revolving loan 
fund for use in future economic development projects.   

Contacting the Trust’s Management 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Trust’s finances, comply with 
finance-related laws and regulations and demonstrate commitment to public accountability.  If you have 
any questions about this report or would like to request additional information, please contact the Trust’s 
general manager at 105 N. Hudson, Suite 101, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102.   
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Assets
2016 2015

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,033,059$      960,492$         
Due from trust funds administered 15,000             -                       
Accounts receivable 3,830               14,167             
Interest receivable 20,785             -                       
Prepaid and other -                       21,558             

Total current assets 1,072,674 996,217

Note Receivable 4,255,171        -                       

Capital Assets 953,266           5,342,300        

Total assets 6,281,111        6,338,517        

Liabilities and Net Position 

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,690               60,446             
Due to the City 122,882           160,779           

Total current liabilities 126,572           221,225           

Note Payable 4,255,171        4,255,171        

Total liabilities 4,381,743        4,476,396        

Net Position 
Net investment in capital assets 953,266           1,087,129        
Unrestricted 946,102           774,992           

Total net position 1,899,368$     1,862,121$     
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2016 2015

Operating Revenues
Rental income 61,813$           65,272$           
Administrative fees 16,000             16,000             
Oil and gas revenue -                       2,183               
Interest income 388                  48                    

Total revenues 78,201             83,503             

Operating Expenses 
Expenses related to the operation of the Journal Record Building 18,471             362,155           
Professional and trust fees 40,333             77,011             
Management fees to the Alliance for Economic Development of 

Oklahoma City 26,251             25,000             
Parking lot expense 6,565               33,796             
Office expense 8,016               5,644               

Total operating expenses 99,636             503,606           

Operating Loss (21,435)            (420,103)          

Nonoperating Income (Expenses)
Interest income on notes receivable 20,785             -                       
Contribution from the City 37,897             239,221           
Gain on forgiveness of debt -                       2,048,462        
Impairment loss on the Journal Record Building -                       (210,966)          

Total nonoperating income 58,682             2,076,717        

Change in Net Position 37,247             1,656,614        

Net Position, Beginning of Year 1,862,121        205,507           

Net Position, End of Year 1,899,368$     1,862,121$     
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2016 2015

Operating Activities
Rental income 61,813$           65,272$           
Oil and gas revenue -                       2,183               
Administrative fees and others 11,337             29,098             
Interest received 388                  48                    
Payments to vendors and suppliers (134,834)          (512,028)          

Net cash used in operating activities (61,296)            (415,427)          

Noncapital Financing Activities
Contribution from the City -                       400,000           

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities -                       400,000           

Capital and Related Financing Activities
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets 133,863           -                       

Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities 133,863           -                       

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 72,567             (15,427)            

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 960,492          975,919         

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 1,033,059$     960,492$        

Reconciliation of Change in Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in 
(Provided by) Operating Activities

Operating loss used in operating activities (21,435)$          (420,103)$        
Increase (decrease) in accounts receivable (4,663)              13,098             
Increase (decrease) in prepaid and other 21,558            (19,810)          
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (56,756)           11,388           
         

Net cash used in operating activities (61,296)$          (415,427)$       

Supplemental Cash Flows Information
Capital assets sold in exchange for note receivable 4,255,171$      -$                     
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Note 1: Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust (the Trust) is an Oklahoma public trust 
and an agency of the State of Oklahoma.  The Trust was created on December 15, 1962, to promote 
the development of industrial, manufacturing, medical, civic, cultural and educational activities of 
the City of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma (the City), and the State of Oklahoma.  The Trust was 
created under the provisions of Title 60, Oklahoma Statutes and other applicable statutes and laws.  
The City is the beneficiary of the Trust and will receive all residual trust funds and assets upon 
termination of the Trust. 

Operations 

The Trust arranges bond and loan financing through trustee banks to industrial, manufacturing, 
medical, civic, cultural and educational enterprises located principally in the City for the purpose of 
constructing, purchasing, expanding or otherwise improving the facilities required by such 
enterprises.  In March 1998, the Trust acquired the Journal Record Building, which was damaged 
in the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building bombing on April 19, 1995, to rehabilitate and restore the 
building.  The building was sold in July 2015.  The Trust maintains ownership of the adjacent 
parking lot which is currently leased to the new owner. 

Basis of Accounting 

The Trust accounts for its operations as an enterprise fund.  Enterprise funds are accounted for 
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, similar to 
private business enterprises.  Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, liabilities and deferred 
inflows and outflows of resources from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized 
when the exchange transaction takes place, while those from nonexchange transactions are 
recognized when all applicable eligibility requirements are met.  The Trust first applies restricted 
net position when an expense or outlay is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and 
unrestricted net position are available. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Trust considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or 
less and money market mutual funds to be cash equivalents. 
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Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding 
balances.  The Trust provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based on its assessment of the 
current status of individual accounts.  Based on this assessment, no allowance for doubtful 
accounts was required at June 30, 2016 or 2015. 

Capital Assets  

Capital assets are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition or acquisition value at the date of 
donation if acquired by gift.  Depreciation, if any, is computed using a straight-line method over 
the estimated useful life of the asset.  At June 30, 2016 and 2015, capital assets consisted of assets 
held for sale or land and were not being depreciated. 

Long-Lived Asset Impairment 

The Trust accounts for the impairment of capital assets using the guidance provided in 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries.  Statement No. 42 is a 
two-step process of identifying potential impairments and testing for impairment.  Asset 
impairment, as defined by Statement No. 42, is a significant, unexpected decline in the service 
utility of a capital asset.  Governments generally hold capital assets because of the services the 
capital assets provide; consequently, capital asset impairments affect the service utility of the 
assets.  Governments may also acquire assets to redevelop economically depressed areas and are 
often willing to sell those properties at a price below the carrying value of the assets, which 
includes both acquisition and improvement costs.  The Journal Record Building is a property 
acquired by the Trust in part because of its historical significance and in part as a plan to redevelop 
the area in which the building was located.  The Journal Record Building was improved and 
operated by the Trust as rental property for several years.  In fiscal year 2014, the Trust made the 
decision to sell the Journal Record Building.  As a result of this decision, the Trust reclassified this 
capital asset as an asset held for sale and recorded an impairment loss of $210,966 in the year 
ended  
June 30, 2015.  The building was sold on July 9, 2015 (see Notes 4 and 6 for details).  

Net Position 

The net position of a governmental entity is classified in four components.  Net investment in 
capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the 
outstanding balances of borrowings used to finance the purchase or construction of those assets.  
Restricted expendable net position is made up of noncapital assets that must be used for a particular 
purpose, as specified by creditors, grantors or donors external to the Trust, including amounts 
deposited with trustees as required by bond indentures, reduced by the outstanding balances of any 
related borrowings.  Restricted nonexpendable net position consists of noncapital assets that are 
required to be maintained in perpetuity as specified by parties external to the Trust, such as 
permanent endowments.  Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position that does not meet 
the definition of net investment in capital assets or restricted net position. 
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There was no restricted net position at June 30, 2016 and 2015. 

Administrative Fees 

The Trust receives administrative fees from certain projects.  Such fees are based on a percentage 
of the project’s bonds outstanding (1/12th to 1/8th of 1%) or are fixed amounts as determined by 
the trust indenture. 

Income Taxes 

The Trust is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code; 
accordingly, no provision has been made for income taxes. 

Note 2: Deposits and Investments  

Custodial risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a counterparty, the Trust will not be able 
to recover the value of its investments.  Deposits are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are 
uninsured and uncollateralized.  Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if they 
are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Trust or are held by a counterparty or the 
counterparty’s trust department, but not in the name of the Trust. 

The policy of the Trust is to require all deposits be maintained in accounts which are fully insured 
or collateralized.  As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Trust had no uninsured or uncollateralized 
deposits.  The Trust requires investment collateral be held by a third-party custodian with whom 
the Trust has a current custodial agreement in the Trust’s name. 

Investments in the Goldman Sachs Financial Government Obligations Fund, included in cash 
equivalents, totaled $898,894 and $916,012 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The 
investment has ratings of AAAm and Aaa-mf by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and Moody’s 
Investors Service, Inc., respectively, and a weighted-average duration of 34 days. 

Note 3: Due from Trust Funds Administered 

The Trust was due $15,000 and $0 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, from trust funds 
administered for administrative fees earned. 

Note 4: Capital Assets and Related Note Payable  

On March 17, 1998, the Trust entered into an agreement with the City to undertake the acquisition 
and improvement of the Journal Record Building, which was damaged in the bombing of the 
Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building on April 19, 1995.  The Trust managed the operations of the 
building, which consisted primarily of housing a memorial museum and renting space to other 
parties, from that time until the sale of the building on July 9, 2015. 
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The required funding for this project was provided by the City through a United States Department 
of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Community Development Block Grant.  This funding 
was made in the form of a nonrecourse loan to the Trust and in the form of a grant, which does not 
require repayment.  

The proceeds from the loan were designated to provide for improvement to and ongoing operation, 
maintenance and leasing of the Journal Record Building and ancillary facilities.  Subsequent to the 
original agreement, this loan has been amended multiple times.  During fiscal year 2016, the loan 
was not amended as negotiations to sell the Journal Record Building were underway.  Instead, the 
Trust received a cash inflow of $400,000 from the City to continue operations during the sale 
negotiations.  As a result of the pending sale of the Journal Record Building, the Trust recognized 
an impairment loss of $210,966 in 2015. 

A new amendment was signed July 9, 2015, the day of the sale.  As a result of the settlement terms 
agreed to prior to June 30, 2015, the note payable was written down to the amount of principal 
required to be paid to the City, which resulted in a gain on forgiveness of debt of $2,048,462 being 
recognized in 2015.  At June 30, 2015, the loan amount was $4,255,171.   

The Trust signed a purchase agreement on March 5, 2014, to sell the Journal Record Building.  The 
buyer had a 120-day contingency/review period, which ended August 5, 2014, with a 30-day 
extension option, which they exercised on August 5, 2014, extending the contingency/review 
period to September 4, 2014.  A second extension was agreed upon on September 4, 2014, moving 
the end of the review period to October 6, 2014.  The closing date was to be no later than 30 days 
after the expiration of the contingency/review period or such other time as may be mutually agreed 
to in writing by the parties.  On June 22, 2015, a second amendment was signed to set the closing 
date of the sale to no later than July 8, 2015.  

During July 2015, the Trust sold the Journal Record Building for approximately $4,400,000 
through multiple transactions.  In addition, the loan agreement between the Trust and the City was 
amended to forgive the debt over and above the sales price in addition to any unpaid and accrued 
interest.  The loan has a balance of approximately $4,255,000 and is interest free, maturing in 2045.  
As part of the sale, the Trust established a note receivable of approximately $4,255,000 from the 
buyer, which bears interest at rates established in the note agreement and matures in 2045.  Future 
principal payments from the note receivable will be used to pay the principal due to the note 
payable due to the City.  Interest earned from the note receivable will remain with the Trust and is 
required to be used for future economic development. 

Capital assets consisted of the following at June 30: 

2016 2015

Nondepreciable capital assets
Held for sale -$                     4,600,000$      
Land 953,266           953,266           

Total nondepreciable capital assets 953,266$        5,553,266$     
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Future principal payments on the note payable and future receipts on note receivable consist of the 
following at June 30: 

Long-Term
Year Ending June 30, Debt Principal Principal Interest * Total

2016-2020 -$                     -$                     106,000$         106,000$         
2021-2025 851,000           851,000           94,000             945,000           
2026-2030 851,000           851,000           253,000           1,104,000        
2031-2035 851,000           851,000           179,000           1,030,000        
2036-2040 851,000           851,000           104,000           955,000           
2041-2045 851,171           851,171           30,000             881,171           

4,255,171$     4,255,171$     766,000$         5,021,171$     

* Rate of interest on note receivable interest is set at 0.5% for years 1-10.  Beginning in year 11, the rate of 
interest will be recalculated yearly to equal 50% of the prime rate published in the Wall Street Journal 
July 9th of each year through the maturity of the loan.

Note Receivable

 

Note 5: Conduit Debt Obligations 

From time to time, the Trust has issued industrial revenue bonds and leasing obligations to provide 
financial assistance to private-sector entities for the acquisition and construction of facilities 
deemed to be in the public interest.  The bonds and leasing obligations are secured by the property 
financed and are payable solely from payments received on underlying mortgage loans or leasing 
agreements.  Upon repayment of the bonds and leasing obligations, ownership of the acquired 
facilities transfers to the private-sector entity.  The Trust is not obligated in any manner for 
repayment of the bonds or leasing obligations; accordingly, the bonds and leasing obligations are 
not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. 

As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, there were three series of industrial revenue bonds and leasing 
obligations outstanding with an aggregate principal amount payable of approximately $21,720,000 
and $33,667,000, respectively.   

Note 6: Leases 

As part of the purchase agreement described in Note 4, the buyer of the Journal Record Building 
agreed to lease the Journal Record Building parking lot at $60,563 per year for a lease term of 99 
years commencing on the possession date.  The buyer has the option to purchase the parking lot at 
the appraised value of $1,275,000 for the first 10 years and at amounts specified in the ground lease 
agreement after that.  The buyer will be allowed to construct a multi-story parking garage on the 
parking lot and make other improvements, such as retail, office and/or residential space.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over  
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters  

Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in  
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

 
 
 

Board of Trustees 
Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of the Oklahoma 
City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust (the Trust), which comprise the statement of net position as of 
June 30, 2016, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the basic financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated November 11, 2016.  

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Management of the Trust is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control).  In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Trust’s 
internal control to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose 
of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the Trust’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses as defined above.  However, material weaknesses may 
exist that have not been identified. 



Board of Trustees 
Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Trust’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Trust’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.  
 

 
 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 
November 11, 2016 



Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust 
A Component Unit of the City of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended June 30, 2016 
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Reference 
Number Finding

  
 No matters are reportable. 

 



Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust
Financial Statements

For the Period Ended September 30, 2016

Agenda Item 742



Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust
Statement of Net Position

September 30, 2016

Current Assets
Cash - Admin 75-1004-01-1 853,712$             
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 91,979                 
Cash - Revolving Loan Fund 3319 155,536               
Interest Receivable - JRB 4,828                   
Prepaid Expenses 16,428                 

Total Current Assets 1,122,483            

Loan Receivable - JRB Holdings 4,255,171            

Parking Lot 953,266               

Total Assets 6,330,920$          

Liabilities
Accrued Expenses 2,188$                 
Deferred Income 46,749                 
City of Oklahoma City - JRB 122,882               
Note Payable 4,255,171            

Total Liabilities 4,426,990            

Net Position 1,903,930            

Total Liabilites & Net Position 6,330,920$          

Assets

Liabilities & Net Position

Unaudited - For Management Use Only



Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position

For theThree Months Ending September 30, 2016

Revenues
3 Months Ended 

September 30, 2016
Interest Income-JRB Loan 5,319$                       
Interest Income 179                            
Rental Income - Parking Lot 15,141                       

Total Revenues 20,639                       

Expenses
Management Fees 6,563                         
Professional Fees 7,159                         
Office Expense 2,356                         

Total Expenses 16,077                       

Change in Net Position 4,561                         

Net Position, beginning balance 1,899,369                  

Net Position 1,903,930$                

Unaudited - For Management Use Only



Oklahoma City Industrial and
General Ledger

For the Period From July 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016

Account Description Date Trans Description Debit Amt Credit Amt Balance
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 7/1/16 Beginning Balance 807,753.43
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 7/1/16 The Alliance for Econ Dev of O 2,187.50
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 7/7/16 Insurica Insurance 5,424.02
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 7/12/16 Midfirst Bank 2,000.00
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 7/20/16 JRB Holdings, LLC 60,653.00
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 7/31/16 Interest Income 24.99
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 8/16/16 BKD, LLP 12,480.00
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 8/25/16 The Alliance for Econ Dev of O 2,187.50
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 8/31/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla 515.00
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 8/31/16 Interest Income 30.56
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 9/1/16 The Alliance for Econ Dev of O 2,187.50
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 9/6/16 SSM Health Care 15,000.00
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 9/20/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla 2,698.80
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 9/26/16 Heritage Trust Company 90.00
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 9/30/16 Interest Income 20.46
Admin Cash-75-1004-01-1 Change 75,729.01 29,770.32 45,958.69

9/30/16 Ending Balance 853,712.12
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 7/1/16 Beginning Balance 91,140.91
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 7/12/16 Midfirst Bank 2,000.00
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 7/20/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla - Invoice: #22088 175.00
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 7/20/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla 175.00
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 7/20/16 Correct AP account for entry that was ADJ at YE 2016 175.00
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 7/31/16 Interest Income 2.83
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 8/5/16 Heritage Trust Co. 3,829.70
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 8/31/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla 525.00
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 8/31/16 Interest Income 3.39
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 9/20/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla 300.00
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 9/30/16 Interest Income 2.23
Cash - JRB 75-1005-01-8 Change 4,013.15 3,175.00 838.15

9/30/16 Ending Balance 91,979.06
Midfirst Bank 3319 - Rv Ln Fnd 7/1/16 Beginning Balance 134,164.87
Midfirst Bank 3319 - Rv Ln Fnd 7/21/16 JRB Holdings, LLC 21,275.86
Midfirst Bank 3319 - Rv Ln Fnd 7/31/16 Interest Income 29.95
Midfirst Bank 3319 - Rv Ln Fnd 8/31/16 Interest Income 33.01
Midfirst Bank 3319 - Rv Ln Fnd 9/30/16 Interest Income 31.96
Midfirst Bank 3319 - Rv Ln Fnd Change 21,370.78 21,370.78

9/30/16 Ending Balance 155,535.65

Page: 4



Oklahoma City Industrial and
General Ledger

For the Period From July 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016

Account Description Date Trans Description Debit Amt Credit Amt Balance
Accounts Receivable 7/1/16 Beginning Balance 18,830.00
Accounts Receivable 7/8/16 JRB Holdings, LLC 60,563.00
Accounts Receivable 7/8/16 JRB Holdings, LLC 21,275.86
Accounts Receivable 7/20/16 JRB Holdings, LLC - Invoice: #1-2016 60,563.00
Accounts Receivable 7/21/16 JRB Holdings, LLC - Invoice: #2-2016 21,275.86
Accounts Receivable 8/5/16 Heritage Trust Co. - Return of Unused Umbrella Insurance Premium 3,829.70
Accounts Receivable 8/5/16 Heritage Trust Co. - Adjust receivable 0.30
Accounts Receivable 9/6/16 SSM Health Care - Invoice: #2016-1 15,000.00
Accounts Receivable Change 81,838.86 100,668.86 -18,830.00

9/30/16 Ending Balance
Pre-paid expenses 7/1/16 Beginning Balance
Pre-paid expenses 7/7/16 Insurica Insurance - Pre-paid expenses 5,424.02
Pre-paid expenses 7/12/16 Midfirst Bank - Pre-paid expenses 2,000.00
Pre-paid expenses 7/12/16 Midfirst Bank - Pre-paid expenses 2,000.00
Pre-paid expenses 7/31/16 Recognize monthly portion of Insurica D&O insurance (7/1/15-7/1/16 452.00
Pre-paid expenses 7/31/16 Record monthly prepaid trust fees 333.33
Pre-paid expenses 8/16/16 BKD, LLP - Pre-paid expenses 12,480.00
Pre-paid expenses 8/31/16 Recognize monthly portion of Insurica D&O insurance (7/1/15-7/1/16 452.00
Pre-paid expenses 8/31/16 Record monthly prepaid trust fees 333.33
Pre-paid expenses 8/31/16 Record monthly prepaid audit fees 2,080.00
Pre-paid expenses 9/30/16 Recognize monthly portion of Insurica D&O insurance (7/1/15-7/1/16 452.00
Pre-paid expenses 9/30/16 Record monthly prepaid trust fees 333.34
Pre-paid expenses 9/30/16 Record monthly prepaid audit fees 1,040.00
Pre-paid expenses Change 21,904.02 5,476.00 16,428.02

9/30/16 Ending Balance 16,428.02
Interest Receivable - JRB Loan 7/1/16 Beginning Balance 20,785.25
Interest Receivable - JRB Loan 7/8/16 JRB Holdings, LLC - Loan Interest from 7/9/15 to 7/8/16 21,275.86
Interest Receivable - JRB Loan 7/8/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan - 7/1/16-7/8/16 490.61
Interest Receivable - JRB Loan 7/31/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan - 7/9/16-7/31/16 1,282.38
Interest Receivable - JRB Loan 8/31/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan 1,772.98
Interest Receivable - JRB Loan 9/30/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan 1,772.98
Interest Receivable - JRB Loan Change 5,318.95 21,275.86 -15,956.91

9/30/16 Ending Balance 4,828.34
Loan Receivable - JRB Holdings 7/1/16 Beginning Balance 4,255,171.20

9/30/16 Ending Balance 4,255,171.20
Parking Lot 7/1/16 Beginning Balance 953,265.80

9/30/16 Ending Balance 953,265.80

Page: 5



Oklahoma City Industrial and
General Ledger

For the Period From July 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016

Account Description Date Trans Description Debit Amt Credit Amt Balance
Accrued Expenses 7/1/16 Beginning Balance -2,362.50
Accrued Expenses 7/1/16 The Alliance for Econ Dev of O - Accrued Expenses 2,187.50
Accrued Expenses 7/20/16 Correct AP account for entry that was ADJ at YE 2016 175.00
Accrued Expenses 7/31/16 Accrue July management fees 2,187.50
Accrued Expenses 8/25/16 The Alliance for Econ Dev of O - Accrued Expenses 2,187.50
Accrued Expenses 8/31/16 Accrue monthly management fee due to AED 2,187.50
Accrued Expenses 9/1/16 The Alliance for Econ Dev of O - Accrued Expenses 2,187.50
Accrued Expenses 9/30/16 Accrue monthly management fee due to AED 2,187.50
Accrued Expenses Change 6,737.50 6,562.50 175.00

9/30/16 Ending Balance -2,187.50
City of OKC - JRB 7/1/16 Beginning Balance -122,882.09

9/30/16 Ending Balance -122,882.09
Deferred Income - Parking Lot 7/1/16 Beginning Balance -1,327.00
Deferred Income - Parking Lot 7/8/16 JRB Holdings, LLC - Parking Lot Lease FY2017 60,563.00
Deferred Income - Parking Lot 7/20/16 JRB Holdings, LLC - Overpayment of parking lot rent 90.00
Deferred Income - Parking Lot 7/31/16 Recognize monthly rent-parking lot 5,046.92
Deferred Income - Parking Lot 8/31/16 Recognize monthly rent-parking lot 5,046.92
Deferred Income - Parking Lot 9/26/16 Heritage Trust Company - Deferred Income - Parking Lot 90.00
Deferred Income - Parking Lot 9/30/16 Recognize monthly rent-parking lot 5,046.92
Deferred Income - Parking Lot Change 15,230.76 60,653.00 -45,422.24

9/30/16 Ending Balance -46,749.24
Note Payable 7/1/16 Beginning Balance -4,255,171.20

9/30/16 Ending Balance -4,255,171.20
Fund Balance 7/1/16 Beginning Balance -1,899,368.67

9/30/16 Ending Balance -1,899,368.67
Interest Income 7/1/16 Beginning Balance
Interest Income 7/31/16 Interest Income 24.99
Interest Income 7/31/16 Interest Income 2.83
Interest Income 7/31/16 Interest Income 29.95
Interest Income 8/5/16 Heritage Trust Co. - Adjust receivable 0.30
Interest Income 8/31/16 Interest Income 30.56
Interest Income 8/31/16 Interest Income 3.39
Interest Income 8/31/16 Interest Income 33.01
Interest Income 9/30/16 Interest Income 20.46
Interest Income 9/30/16 Interest Income 2.23
Interest Income 9/30/16 Interest Income 31.96
Interest Income Change 0.30 179.38 -179.08
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Oklahoma City Industrial and
General Ledger

For the Period From July 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016

Account Description Date Trans Description Debit Amt Credit Amt Balance
9/30/16 Ending Balance -179.08

Interest Income-JRB Loan 7/1/16 Beginning Balance
Interest Income-JRB Loan 7/8/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan - 7/1/16-7/8/16 490.61
Interest Income-JRB Loan 7/31/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan - 7/9/16-7/31/16 1,282.38
Interest Income-JRB Loan 8/31/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan 1,772.98
Interest Income-JRB Loan 9/30/16 Accrue monthly interest due on Note Receivable for JRB loan 1,772.98
Interest Income-JRB Loan Change 5,318.95 -5,318.95

9/30/16 Ending Balance -5,318.95
Rent Income - Parking Lot 7/1/16 Beginning Balance
Rent Income - Parking Lot 7/31/16 Recognize monthly rent-parking lot 5,046.92
Rent Income - Parking Lot 8/31/16 Recognize monthly rent-parking lot 5,046.92
Rent Income - Parking Lot 9/30/16 Recognize monthly rent-parking lot 5,046.92
Rent Income - Parking Lot Change 15,140.76 -15,140.76

9/30/16 Ending Balance -15,140.76
Management Fees 7/1/16 Beginning Balance
Management Fees 7/31/16 Accrue July management fees 2,187.50
Management Fees 8/31/16 Accrue monthly management fee due to AED 2,187.50
Management Fees 9/30/16 Accrue monthly management fee due to AED 2,187.50
Management Fees Change 6,562.50 6,562.50

9/30/16 Ending Balance 6,562.50
Professional Fees 7/1/16 Beginning Balance
Professional Fees 8/31/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla - Professional Fees 515.00
Professional Fees 8/31/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla - Professional Fees 525.00
Professional Fees 8/31/16 Record monthly prepaid audit fees 2,080.00
Professional Fees 9/20/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla - Professional Fees 300.00
Professional Fees 9/20/16 Williams, Box, Forshee & Bulla - Professional Fees 2,698.80
Professional Fees 9/30/16 Record monthly prepaid audit fees 1,040.00
Professional Fees Change 7,158.80 7,158.80

9/30/16 Ending Balance 7,158.80
Office Expense 7/1/16 Beginning Balance
Office Expense 7/31/16 Recognize monthly portion of Insurica D&O insurance (7/1/16-7/1/17 452.00
Office Expense 7/31/16 Record monthly prepaid trust fees 333.33
Office Expense 8/31/16 Recognize monthly portion of Insurica D&O insurance (7/1/15-7/1/16 452.00
Office Expense 8/31/16 Record monthly prepaid trust fees 333.33
Office Expense 9/30/16 Recognize monthly portion of Insurica D&O insurance (7/1/15-7/1/16 452.00
Office Expense 9/30/16 Record monthly prepaid trust fees 333.34
Office Expense Change 2,356.00 2,356.00
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Oklahoma City Industrial and
General Ledger

For the Period From July 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016

Account Description Date Trans Description Debit Amt Credit Amt Balance
9/30/16 Ending Balance 2,356.00

Page: 8
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  12.16.16-2.1 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
 

 WHEREAS, the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust (“Trust”) is the 
owner of property located at 123 N.W. 5th Street in Oklahoma, City Oklahoma (“Land”). 

 WHEREAS, the Trust, as landlord, entered into a Ground Lease Agreement effective July 
9, 2015 (“Lease”) with its tenant, JRB Parking, LLC (“Tenant”). 

         WHEREAS, in order to facilitate development of the Land and related financing, Tenant 
has request the Trust approve and/or enter into (i) a First Amendment to Ground Lease, (ii) a 
Subordination Agreement, (iii) a Mortgage with Power of Sale, Assignment of Leases  
and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing (with power of sale), and (iv) a Ground Lease 
Estoppel letter (collectively the “Required Closing Documents”). 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Trustees of the Oklahoma City 
Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust that:  
 

1. The Required Closing Documents are authorized and approved, with the Chair, Vice-
Chair and General Manager, or any one of them, authorized for and on behalf of the Trust to 
modify, finalize and execute same and further to approve and execute other documents and 
certifications necessary for development of the Land and related financing. 
 
 2. The Chair, Vice Chair and the General Manager, or any one of them, are authorized to 
take all necessary actions in furtherance of development of Land and related financing, and are 
further authorized to pay related costs and expenses, all for and on behalf of the Trust.  
 
 ADOPTED and APPROVED this 19th day of December 2016. 
 
      OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL AND   
      CULTURAL FACILITIES TRUST 
       
 
             
        Chair 
 
(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
  Secretary 
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AFTER RECORDING RETURN TO: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(This space reserved for recording 
information) 

 
 

SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT 
 
  THIS SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT is entered into effective as of the ____ day 
of  _______________, 2016 (the “Effective Date”), by OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL AND 
CULTURAL FACILITIES TRUST, an Oklahoma public trust (the “Trust”), and THE CITY OF 
OKLAHOMA CITY, a municipal corporation (the “City”), in favor of RCB BANK, an Oklahoma 
banking corporation (“Lender”).   
 

PREMISES 
 

 A. JRB Office, LLC (“JRB Office”) is the owner of that certain property described on 
Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Property”). 
 
 B. The Trust is the current holder of (i) that certain Promissory Note, dated July 9, 2015, 
executed by JRB Office in favor of the Trust, in the face amount of $4,255,171.20 (the “Murrah 
Note”), and (ii) that certain Mortgage, Security Agreement, Assignment of Leases and Rents and 
Financing Statement, dated July 9, 2015, executed by JRB Office in favor of the Trust, recorded in 
Book 12871 at Page 1458 of the records of the County Clerk of Oklahoma County, Oklahoma (the 
“Murrah Mortgage”), whereby JRB Office pledged a security interest in the “Mortgaged Property” 
(as defined in the Murrah Mortgage and which includes the Property)  in favor of the Trust to secure 
the Murrah Note.  The Murrah Note and Murrah Mortgage shall be collectively defined herein as the 
“Murrah Loan Documents”. 
 
 C. This City has certain collateral rights with respect to the Murrah Loan Documents as 
evidenced by that certain Assignment of Promissory Note and Mortgage, dated July 9, 2015, 
executed by the Trust in favor of the City and recorded in Book 12871 at Page 1479 in the records of 
the County Clerk of Oklahoma County, Oklahoma (the “Collateral Assignment”), whereby the Trust 
collaterally assigned its right, title and interest in and to the Murrah Loan Documents to the City. 
 
 D.   The Murrah Loan Documents and the Collateral Assignment each state that the 
security interest granted thereby are subject to and shall be subordinate to redevelopment financing 
of the Mortgaged Property. 

E. Lender is making loans to JRB Office, and its affiliates, JRB Parking, LLC and JRB 
Holdings LLC (collectively, the “Borrowers”), in the maximum principal amounts of $9,800,000.00 



 

  
  

and $4,700,000.00 (collectively, the “RCB Loans”) for the purpose of redeveloping the Property and 
certain other adjacent property. The RCB Loans are evidenced by promissory notes, each dated as of 
the Effective Date, executed by Borrowers in favor of Lender (the “RCB Notes”) and secured by, 
among other things, a Mortgage With Power of Sale, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security 
Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of the Effective Date executed by JRB Office (the “RCB 
Mortgage”, together with all other security instruments securing the RCB Loans, collectively, the 
“Security Instruments”), whereby JRB Office has granted a security interest in Property, including 
the Mortgaged Property, to secure the RCB Loans and all obligations of Borrowers under all loan 
documents (collectively, the “RCB Loan Documents”) executed by Borrowers or other parties in 
connection with the RCB Loans, including without limitation, the RCB Notes and the Security 
Instruments.    

F. It is a condition precedent to Borrowers’ obtaining the RCB Loans that the RCB Loan 
Documents shall be and remain at all times a lien or charge upon the Mortgaged Property prior and 
superior to the lien or charge of Murrah Loan Documents and Collateral Assignment and that the 
RCB Loans be prior and superior to the Murrah Loan. 
 
 G. The Trust and the City each desire to evidence their agreement to subordinate the 
Murrah Loan Documents and the Collateral Assignment to indebtedness evidenced by, and the lien 
and charge of, the RCB Loan Documents. 
 
  IN CONSIDERATION of the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00) and 
other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Trust and the City hereby subordinate the Murrah Loan Documents and the 
Collateral Assignment to the RCB Loan Documents in all respects, with the resulting relationship 
between the Murrah Loan Documents and Collateral Assignment, on one hand,  and the RCB Loan 
Documents on the other hand, to be the same as if the RCB Loan Documents had been executed and 
recorded prior to the execution and recordation of the Murrah Loan Documents and Collateral 
Assignment.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Subordination.   The Murrah Loan Documents and the Collateral Assignment and the 
indebtedness, including the payment and performance thereof, and the lien created thereunder or 
assigned thereby are and shall continue to be expressly subject and subordinate to (a) the lien created 
by the Security Instruments, (b) the prior payment and performance of the RCB Loans, (c) all the 
terms, covenants and conditions contained in the RCB Loan Documents and any extensions, 
replacements, consolidations, modifications and supplements thereto, including without limitation 
any and all advances (whether or not obligatory), in whatever amounts and whenever made, with 
interest thereon, and to any expenses, charges and fees incurred thereby, including any and all of 
advances, interest, expenses, charges and fees which may increase the indebtedness secured by the 
Security Instruments above the maximum principal amounts thereof, and (d) any amounts advanced 
or incurred, in the sole judgment of Lender, for the benefit of the Mortgaged Property or for costs 
and expenses associated with the RCB Loans.  The Trust and the City will have no right to demand 
or receive any payment of principal or interest on account of the Murrah Loan unless and until the 
RCB Loans have been paid in full; provided that, until the occurrence of an Event of Default under 
the RCB Loan Documents, JRB Office will be entitled to pay and the Trust (or the City, as 
applicable) will be entitled to accept installments of indebtedness owing by the JRB Office under the 
Murrah Loan Documents.  After the occurrence of an Event of Default, JRB Office will not be 



 

  
  

entitled to pay and the Trust (or the City, as applicable) will not be entitled to accept any payments 
owing under the Murrah Loan Documents.  If any payment is received from JRB Office on the 
Murrah Loan after the occurrence of an Event of Default, such funds will be held by the Trust (or the 
City, as applicable) in trust for the benefit of Lender and will be remitted to Lender within one (1) 
business day after receipt thereof. 

2. Waiver of Consent.  Lender may, without the consent of, or responsibility to, the 
Trust or the City, and without impairing or releasing any of Lender’s rights, liens and security 
interests evidenced by the RCB Loan Documents, or the priority thereof, take any one or more of the 
following actions: 

 
(a) increase, modify, renew, consolidate, replace and/or extend the RCB Loans in 

any and all respects; 
 
(b) sell, exchange or release or otherwise deal with all any other real or personal 

property encumbered by or subject to the RCB Loan Documents; 
 
(c) release Borrowers, or any one, or any guarantors of the RCB Loans from all 

or any portion of the RCB Loans; 
 
(d) exercise or refrain from exercising any rights against Borrowers, or any one, 

or any guarantor of the RCB Loans;  
 
(e) apply any sums, by whomsoever paid or howsoever realized, to the RCB 

Notes or any of the RCB Loans; and/or 
 
(f) assign or transfer any or all of its interest in either or both of the RCB Notes, 

the other RCB Loan Documents and/or this Agreement to any other party without notice to, 
or consent from, the Trust or the City. 

 
3. Amendment.  This Agreement may not be amended or modified except in writing by 

the Trust, the City and Lender. 
 
4. RCB Loan Documents. Nothing contained herein shall modify or amend the RCB 

Loan Documents in any respect, all of which shall remain unabated and in full force and effect for all 
purposes. 

 
5. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 

parties hereto and their respective successors, legal representatives and assigns. 
 
6. Construction.  The paragraph headings and captions contained in this Agreement are 

included for convenience only and shall not be construed or considered a part of this Agreement or 
affect in any manner the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. 

 
7. Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 
 
8. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be interpreted, governed by and enforced 



 

  
  

according to the laws of the State of Oklahoma, without giving effect to conflict of laws principles, 
and except to the extent preempted by federal law. 

 
9. Jurisdiction and Venue.  All actions or proceedings with respect to this Agreement 

and/or the other documents referenced herein may be instituted in any state or federal court located 
in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, and by execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Trust and the 
City irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction (both subject matter 
and person) of such courts and waives (i) any objection it may now or hereafter have to the laying of 
venue in any such court, and (ii) any claim that any action or proceeding brought in any such court 
has been brought in an inconvenient forum. 

 
10. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the other loan documents represent the final 

agreement between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of oral agreements of the 
parties, whether made before, on or after the date of this Agreement.  There are no unwritten oral 
agreements between the parties. 

 
[Signatures appear on following pages] 

 

 
   



 

  
  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trust and the City have each executed this instrument as of 
the Effective Date. 
 
 
 "TRUST"  OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL AND CULTURAL 

FACILITIES TRUST, an Oklahoma public trust 
 
 
     By:         
     Name: __________________________________________ 
     Title: ____________________________________________ 
  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Catherine O’Connor,  
Assistant Secretary 
 
 
 
STATE OF OKLAHOMA  ) 
     )  SS. 
COUNTY OF OKLAHOMA  ) 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ____________________, 
2016, by _____________________, as ____________________________________ of the 
Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust, who represented to me that he/she has 
authority to execute said instrument on behalf of said public trust.   
 
 
              
My Commission Expires:   Notary Public, Commission No.:    
 
     
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 



 

  
  

 
 "CITY"  THE CITY OF OKLAHOMA CITY, a municipal 

corporation 
 
 
     By:         
      Mick Cornett, Mayor 
  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
City Clerk      
     Reviewed for form and legality: 
 
 
     ______________________________ 
     Assistant Municipal Counselor 
 
 
 
STATE OF OKLAHOMA  ) 
     )  SS. 
COUNTY OF OKLAHOMA  ) 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ____________________, 
2016, by Mick Cornett, as Mayor of The City of Oklahoma City, who represented to me that he/she 
has authority to execute said instrument on behalf of such City.   
 
 
              
My Commission Expires:   Notary Public, Commission No.:    
 
     
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  
  

EXHIBIT "A" 
 

Legal Description of Property 
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Crowe & Dunlevy, PC 
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324 N. Robinson Ave., Suite 100 
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MORTGAGE WITH POWER OF SALE, ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES  
AND RENTS, SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIXTURE FILING  

(With Power of Sale) 

This MORTGAGE WITH POWER OF SALE, ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES AND 
RENTS, SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIXTURE FILING (With Power of Sale) (this 
“Mortgage”) is made effective as of December ____, 2016, by JRB PARKING, LLC, an 
Oklahoma limited liability company (“JRB”), and the OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL 
AND CULTURAL FACILITIES TRUST, a public trust (the “Trust”; and together with JRB, 
collectively, the “Grantors”), in favor of RCB BANK, an Oklahoma banking corporation 
(“Lender”). 

A POWER OF SALE HAS BEEN GRANTED IN THIS MORTGAGE.  A POWER OF 
SALE MAY ALLOW LENDER TO TAKE THE MORTGAGED PROPERTY AND SELL 
IT WITHOUT GOING TO COURT IN A FORECLOSURE ACTION UPON DEFAULT 
BY GRANTORS UNDER THIS MORTGAGE. 

Article 1 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01 Definitions.  As used herein, the following terms shall have the following 
meanings: 

(a) Assignment:  The assignment, contained in Article 3 of this Mortgage, 
from Grantors to Lender, of all of Grantors’ right, title and interest in and to the Leases 
and the Rents. 

(b) Awards:  All awards and payments made or hereafter to be made by any 
municipal, township, county, state, Federal or other governmental agencies, authorities or 
boards or any other entity having the power of eminent domain to Grantors, including 
any awards and payments for (i) any taking of all or a portion of the Mortgaged Property, 
as a result of, or by agreement in anticipation of, the exercise of the right of 
condemnation or eminent domain; (ii) any such taking of any appurtenances to the 
Mortgaged Property or of vaults, areas or projections outside the boundaries of the 
Mortgaged Property, or rights in, under or above the alleys, streets or avenues adjoining 
the Mortgaged Property, or rights and benefits of light, air, view or access to said alleys, 
streets, or avenues or for the taking of space or rights therein, below the level of, or above 
the Mortgaged Property; and (iii) any damage to the Mortgaged Property or any part 
thereof due to governmental action, but not resulting in, a taking of any portion of the 
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Mortgaged Property, such as, without limitation, the changing of the grade of any street 
adjacent to the Mortgaged Property. 

(c) Borrower: Collectively, JRB Holdings LLC, an Oklahoma limited 
liability company, JRB Office, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, and JRB 
Parking, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company. 

(d) Buildings:  All buildings, improvements, alterations or appurtenances 
now, or at any time hereafter, located upon the Land or any part thereof. 

(e) Default Rate:  As defined in the Loan Agreement. 

(f) Event(s) of Default:  The happenings and occurrences described in Article 
5 of this Mortgage. 

(g) Fixtures:  All goods or other items that are or are to become “Fixtures” (as 
defined in the UCC), now or hereafter located upon or within the Land or Buildings or 
now or hereafter attached to, or installed in, or used in connection with, any of the Land 
or Buildings whether or not permanently affixed to the Mortgaged Property, subject to 
the rights of tenants under the Leases other than the Ground Lease. 

(h) Grantors:  Collectively, JRB Office, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability 
company, and the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust, a public trust, 
and their respective successors and assigns in interest in and to the Mortgaged Property. 

(i) Ground Lease: That certain Ground Lease Agreement, dated July 9, 2015, 
by and between the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust, as Landlord, 
and JRB Parking, LLC, as tenant, and all amendments thereto covering or affecting the 
Land, or any part thereof, together with all rights, powers, privileges, options and other 
benefits of Grantors thereunder. 

(j) Guarantors:  KNABCO, L.L.C., an Oklahoma limited liability company, 
and GCH Securities, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company. 

(k) Hazardous Substances:  means and includes, without limitation, the 
following: 

(i) Those substances included within the definitions of “hazardous 
substances,” “hazardous materials,” “toxic substances,” or “solid waste” in the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 
1980 (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.), as amended by the Superfund Amendments and 
Reauthorization Act of 1986 (Pub. L. 99-499, 100 Stat. 1613), the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.), and the 
Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. § 5101 et seq.), and in the 
regulations promulgated pursuant to said laws, all as amended. 

(ii) Those substances listed in the United States Department of 
Transportation Table (49 CFR Part 172.101 and amendments thereto) or by the 
Environmental Protection Agency (or any successor agency) as hazardous 
substances (40 CFR Part 302 and amendments thereto). 

(iii) Any material, waste or substance which is (a) petroleum, including 
crude oil or any fraction thereof, natural gas, natural gas liquids, liquefied natural 
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gas, synthetic gas usable for fuel, or any mixture thereof, (b) asbestos, (c) 
polychlorinated biphenyls, (d) designated as a “hazardous substance” pursuant to 
Section 311 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.) (33 U.S.C. § 1321) 
or listed pursuant to Section 307 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1317) as 
amended, (e) a chemical substance or mixture regulated under the Toxic 
Substances Control Act of 1976 (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.) as amended, (f) 
flammable explosives, or (g) radioactive materials. 

(iv) Such other substances, materials and wastes which are or become 
regulated as hazardous or toxic under applicable local, state or federal law, or 
which are classified as hazardous or toxic under federal, state, or local laws or 
regulations. 

(l) Impositions:  All (i) real estate and personal property taxes and other taxes 
and assessments, water and sewer rates and charges, and all other governmental charges 
and any interest or costs or penalties with respect thereto, and charges for any easement 
or agreement maintained for the benefit of the Mortgaged Property which at any time 
prior to or after the execution of the Security Documents may be assessed, levied, or 
imposed upon the Mortgaged Property or the rent or income received therefrom or any 
use or occupancy thereof, and (ii) other taxes, assessments, fees and governmental 
charges levied, imposed or assessed upon or against Grantor or any of its properties. 

(m) Indebtedness:  The principal of and interest on, and all other amounts, 
costs, expenses, payments and premiums due under the Notes, and all other indebtedness 
of Grantors and/or Borrower and others to Lender under and/or secured by the Security 
Documents, or any amendments, modifications, renewals and extensions of any of the 
foregoing. 

(n) Land:  Any lands, fee interests, leasehold interests, easements, rights of 
way and other rights of whatever nature or description the description of which is 
contained in Exhibit “A” attached hereto or is incorporated in Exhibit “A” by reference to 
another instrument or document, whether now owned or hereafter acquired. 

(o) Leases:  Any and all leases, subleases, licenses, concessions or grants of 
other possessory interests now or hereafter in force, oral or written, covering or affecting 
the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, together with all options therefor, 
amendments thereto and renewals or guaranties thereof, and all other rights, powers, 
privileges, options and other benefits of Grantors thereunder, including any cash or 
security deposited under the Leases to secure performance by the tenants of their 
obligations under the Leases, whether such cash or security is to be held until after the 
expiration of the terms of the Leases or applied to one or more of the installments of rent 
coming due thereunder. 

(p) Loan Agreement: That certain Construction and Term Loan Agreement of 
even date herewith, between Borrower and Lender in connection with the Indebtedness. 

(q) Loan Documents:  All documents evidencing or securing the Indebtedness 
and Obligations, including without limitation, the Loan Agreement, the Security 
Documents and the Notes. 

(r) Mortgaged Property:  The Land, the Buildings, the Fixtures, the Ground 
Lease, the Leases and the Rents together with: 
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(i) all rights, privileges, profits, permits, licenses, tenements, 
hereditaments, rights-of-way, easements, appendages and appurtenances 
of the Land and/or the Buildings belonging or in any way appertaining 
thereto and all right, title and interest of Grantors in and to any streets, 
ways, alleys, strips or gores of land adjoining the Land or any part thereof;  

(ii) all the estate, right, title, interest, claim or demand whatsoever of 
Grantors, either at law or in equity, in and to the Land, the Buildings, the 
Fixtures, the Ground Lease, the Leases and the Rents; and 

(iii) all the estate, right, title, interest, claim or demand whatsoever of 
Grantors, either at law or in equity, in and to the Awards, or payments 
with respect to casualties. 

(s) Lender:  RCB Bank, and its successors and assigns and the holders, from 
time to time, of the Notes. 

(t) Borrower:  Collectively, JRB Holdings LLC, an Oklahoma limited 
liability company, JRB Office, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, and JRB 
Parking, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company. 

(u) Notes.  Collectively, (1) the Promissory Note, dated of even date with this 
Mortgage, in the principal amount of $9,800,000.00, which initially bears a variable rate 
of interest and matures no later than December ___, 2027, and (2)  the Promissory Note, 
dated of even date with this Mortgage, in the principal amount of $4,700,000.00, which 
bears initially a variable rate of interest and matures no later than December ___, 2027, 
each from Borrower payable to the order of Lender, together with all extensions, 
renewals, modifications and amendments thereof, secured, in part, by this Mortgage. 

(v) Obligations:  Any and all of the covenants, promises and other obligations 
(other than the Indebtedness) made or owing by Grantors and/or Borrower and others to 
or due to Lender under and/or as set forth in the Notes and/or the Loan Documents, and 
any and all extensions, renewals, modifications and amendments of any of the foregoing. 

(w) Permitted Encumbrances:  The Leases and the encumbrances described, 
with particularity, in the policy of title insurance issued to Lender and insuring the 
mortgage lien evidenced by this Mortgage. 

(x) Personalty:  All furniture, fixtures, supplies, motor vehicles, tractors, 
trailers, implements, service parts, inventory, equipment, accounts, contract rights, chattel 
paper, general intangibles and all other personal property (other than the Fixtures) now 
owned or hereafter acquired by Grantors which is now or hereafter used in connection 
with the Land and the Buildings or located in, upon or about the Land and the Buildings, 
including without limitation the collateral described on Exhibit “B” attached hereto, 
together with all accessions, replacements and substitutions thereto or therefor and the 
proceeds and products thereof. 

(y) Rents:  All of the rents, revenues, income, profits, deposits, tenders and 
other benefits payable under the Ground Lease and Leases and/or arising from the use 
and enjoyment of all or any portion of the Mortgaged Property. 

(z) Security Agreement:  The Security Agreement, contained in this 
Mortgage, wherein and whereby Grantors grant a first priority security interest in the 
Personalty and the Fixtures to Lender. 
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(aa) Security Documents:  This Mortgage, any guaranties executed in 
connection with the Indebtedness and any and all other documents now or hereafter 
created securing the payment of the Indebtedness or the observance or performance of the 
Obligations, together with any and all amendments, extensions, renewals, supplements, 
consolidations, restatements or other modifications thereof from time to time. 

(bb) UCC:  The Uniform Commercial Code adopted by the State of Oklahoma.   

Article 2 

GRANT 

Section 2.01 Grant.  To secure the payment of the Indebtedness and the performance 
and discharge of the Obligations, Grantors by these presents hereby grant, bargain, sell, assign, 
mortgage, convey and warrant unto Lender, with power of sale, the Mortgaged Property, whether 
now owned or hereafter acquired, subject, however, to the Permitted Encumbrances, to have and 
to hold the Mortgaged Property unto Lender, its successors and assigns upon the terms, 
provisions and conditions set forth herein. 

Section 2.02 Condition of Grant.  Provided always that if Borrower promptly shall pay 
the entire Indebtedness as and when the same shall become due and payable and Borrower and 
Grantors shall observe, perform and discharge the Obligations, then the Security Documents and 
the estate and rights hereby granted shall cease, terminate and become void, and shall be released 
by Lender, at the cost and expense of Borrower.   

Section 2.03 Doctrine of Merger. Upon the foreclosure of this Mortgage, neither the 
Ground Lease nor any other assigned Lease shall be destroyed or terminated by application of 
the doctrine of merger or as a matter of law unless Lender or any purchaser at such foreclosure 
sale so elects.  No act by or on behalf of Lender or any such purchaser shall constitute a 
termination of any assigned or subordinate Ground Lease or Lease unless Lender or such 
purchaser gives written notice thereof to the applicable tenant or subtenant. 

Article 3 

SECURITY INTEREST AND ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES AND RENTS  

Section 3.01 Security Agreement.  This Mortgage shall be construed as a mortgage of 
both real property and personal property and shall also constitute a “Security Agreement” within 
the meaning of, and shall create a security interest under, the UCC, in the Personalty, the 
Fixtures and the Leases and Rents.   

Section 3.02 Security Interest.  Grantors hereby grant to Lender a security interest in 
the Personalty, the Fixtures, the Ground Lease and the Leases and Rents, whether now owned or 
hereafter acquired, and the proceeds thereof and Lender shall have all rights with respect thereto 
afforded to it by the UCC, in addition to, but not in limitation of, the other rights afforded to 
Lender by the Security Documents. 

Section 3.03 Financing Statements.  Grantors agree that this Mortgage shall be effective 
as a financing statement filed against Fixtures as a Fixture Filing (as defined in the UCC) under 
the UCC filed of record in the real estate records of Oklahoma County, Oklahoma, pursuant to 
Section 9-502(c) of the UCC.  Grantors agree to and authorizes Lender to file an initial UCC 
Financing Statement and any amendments to such Financing Statement and such further 
assurances as Lender may, from time to time, consider reasonably necessary to create, perfect 
and preserve Lender’s liens upon the Personalty, the Fixtures, the Ground Lease and the Leases 
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and Rents, and Lender, at the expense of Borrower, may or shall cause such statements and 
assurances to be recorded and re-recorded, filed and re-filed, at such times and places as may be 
required or permitted by law to so create, perfect and preserve such liens. 

Section 3.04 Assignment of Leases and Rents.  In order to further secure payment of 
the Indebtedness and the observance, performance and discharge of the Obligations, Grantors 
hereby absolutely and irrevocably assigns and transfers to Lender, all of Grantors’ right, title and 
interest in and to the Ground Lease and the Leases and the Rents, subject only to the Permitted 
Encumbrances.  Grantors hereby appoint Lender their true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with the 
right, at Lender’s option at any time, to demand, receive and enforce payment, to give receipts, 
releases and satisfactions, and to sue, either in Grantors’ (or either one) or Lender’s name, for all 
Rents.  Notwithstanding the foregoing assignment of Ground Lease and Leases and Rents, so 
long as no Event of Default has occurred which remains uncured, Grantor shall have a license 
(such license to be deemed revoked upon the occurrence of an Event of Default) to collect, retain 
and enjoy all Rents, provided that the existence or exercise of such right of Grantor shall not 
operate to subordinate this assignment to any subsequent assignment, in whole or in part, by 
Grantor, and any subsequent assignment by Grantor shall be subject to the rights of Lender 
hereunder.  This Assignment shall not be deemed or construed to constitute Lender as a 
mortgagee in possession nor obligate Lender to take any action or to incur expenses or perform 
or discharge any obligation, duty or liability.  Exercise of any rights under this Section and the 
application of the Rents to the Indebtedness or the Obligations shall not cure or waive any Event 
of Default. 

Article 4 

COVENANTS 

Until the entire Indebtedness shall have been paid in full, Grantors hereby covenant and 
agree as follows: 

Section 4.01 Compliance with Laws.  Grantors will promptly and faithfully comply in 
all material respects with, conform to and obey all present and future laws, ordinances, rules, 
regulations and requirements of every duly constituted governmental authority or agency having 
jurisdiction, which may be applicable to it or to the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, or 
to the use or manner of use, occupancy, possession, operation, maintenance, alteration, repair or 
reconstruction of the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, whether or not such law, 
ordinance, rule, order, regulation or requirement shall necessitate structural changes or 
improvements or interfere with the use or enjoyment of the Mortgaged Property. 

Section 4.02 Payment of Impositions.  Grantors will duly pay and discharge, or cause to 
be paid and discharged, the Impositions, such Impositions or installments thereof to be paid and 
a copy of the bill reflecting such Imposition shown as paid provided to Grantors, prior to the day 
before any fine, penalty, interest or cost may be added thereto or imposed by law for the 
non-payment thereof; provided, however, that if, by law, any Imposition may be paid in 
installments, Grantors may pay the same in such installments, except that Grantors may in good 
faith, by appropriate proceedings, contest the validity, applicability, or amount of any asserted 
tax or assessment, and pending such contest Grantors shall not be deemed in default hereunder if 
(i) prior to delinquency of the asserted tax or assessment Grantors establishes an escrow 
acceptable to Lender adequate to cover the payment of such tax or assessment with interest, costs 
and penalties and a reasonable additional sum to cover possible costs, interest and penalties 
(which escrow shall be returned to Grantors upon payment of all such taxes, assessments, 
interest, costs and penalties); (ii) Grantors pay to Lender promptly after demand therefore all 
costs and expenses incurred by Lender in connection with such contest; and (iii) Grantors 
promptly causes to be paid any amount adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be due, 
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with all costs, penalties and interest thereon, promptly after such judgment becomes final; 
provided, however, that in any event each such contest shall be concluded and the tax, 
assessment, penalties, interest and costs shall be paid prior to the date any writ or order is issued 
under which the Mortgaged Property may be sold. 

Section 4.03 Insurance.  Borrower will maintain such insurance coverages as are 
required in the Loan Agreement. 

Section 4.04 Performance of Leases and Other Agreements.  Grantors will duly and 
punctually perform all covenants and agreements expressed as binding upon it under the Ground 
Lease, Leases and other agreements to which it is a party with respect to the Mortgaged Property 
or any part thereof, and will use its best efforts to enforce or secure the performance of each and 
every obligation and undertaking of the respective lessees under the Leases, and will appear and 
defend, at its cost and expense, any action or proceeding arising under or in any manner 
connected with the Ground Lease and the Leases or the obligations and undertakings of any 
lessee thereunder.  Grantors will immediately notify Lender in writing of any notice of default 
received by Grantors from any tenant thereunder, and, with respect to the Ground Lease, 
landlord thereunder. 

Section 4.05 Payment of Rents.  Grantors hereby agree that the respective lessees under 
the Ground Lease and Leases, upon notice from Lender of the occurrence of an Event of Default, 
shall thereafter during the continuance of an Event of Default pay to Lender the Rents due and to 
become due under the Ground Lease and Leases without any obligation to determine whether or 
not such an Event of Default does in fact exist.  Until the occurrence of an Event of Default, 
Grantors shall be entitled to collect the Rents as and when they become due and payable, but 
never more than one (1) month in advance. 

Section 4.06 Inspection.  Grantors will permit Lender, at all reasonable times and upon 
reasonable notice, to inspect the Mortgaged Property.  Lender shall have the right to enter onto 
the Mortgaged Property, at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, to inspect the 
Mortgaged Property for the existence of Hazardous Substances on the Mortgaged Property and 
to determine the compliance of the Mortgaged Property and its use with any law, rule or 
regulation relating to industrial hygiene or environmental conditions, including without 
limitation, soil and ground water conditions and the compliance of Grantors and the Mortgaged 
Property with the conditions and covenants set forth herein with respect to Hazardous 
Substances. 

Section 4.07 Hold Harmless.  Grantors will defend and hold Lender harmless from any 
action, proceeding or claim affecting or arising out of Grantors’ use of the Mortgaged Property.  
Grantors shall appear in and defend (or pay the expenses of Lender to defend, if Lender elects to 
handle such defense) any action or proceeding purporting to affect the security of this Mortgage 
and/or the rights and/or powers of Lender hereunder, and JRB shall pay all costs and expenses 
(including costs of evidence of title and attorneys’ fees) in any action or proceeding in which 
Lender may so appear and/or any suit brought by Lender to foreclose this Mortgage, to enforce 
any obligations secured by this Mortgage, and/or to prevent the breach hereof.  Grantors’ 
obligations under this Section shall survive payment of the Indebtedness. 

Section 4.08 Books and Records.  Grantors will maintain full and complete books of 
account and other records reflecting the results of its operations (in conjunction with its other 
operations as well as its construction of the Mortgaged Property), in accordance with sound 
accounting principles consistently applied, and furnish or cause to be furnished to Lender such 
financial data and other information, including, without limitation, copies of all Leases, as 
Lender shall, from time to time, reasonably request with respect to Grantors and the ownership 
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and operation of the Mortgaged Property, and Lender shall have the right at reasonable times and 
upon reasonable notice, to inspect and audit Grantors’ books of account and records. 

Section 4.09 Awards.  Grantors will file and prosecute its claim or claims for any 
Awards in good faith and with due diligence and cause the same to be collected and paid over to 
Lender, and hereby irrevocably authorizes and empowers Lender, if it so desires, to file such 
claim and collect any Awards and agrees that the proceeds of any Awards will be applied by 
Lender in accordance with Article 7 hereof. 

Section 4.10 Licenses.  Grantors shall keep in full force and effect all licenses, permits 
and other governmental approvals which are necessary for the operation of the Mortgaged 
Property and related facilities, and furnish evidence satisfactory to Lender as requested by 
Lender from time to time, that the Mortgaged Property and the use thereof comply with all 
applicable zoning and building laws, regulations, ordinances and other applicable laws. 

Section 4.11 Junior Financing.  Grantors shall not, without the prior written consent of 
Lender, incur any additional indebtedness or create or permit to be created or to remain, any deed 
of trust, mortgage, pledge, lien, lease, encumbrance or charge on, or conditional sale or other title 
retention agreement, with respect to the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof or income 
therefrom, other than the Security Documents and the Permitted Encumbrances. 

Section 4.12 Representations and Warranties of Grantors.   

(a) The Trust hereby represents and warrants to Lender that: 

(i) The rights of the Trust under the Ground Lease are subordinate in 
all respects to the rights of Lender under this Mortgage. 

(ii) The Trust is qualified to do business in every jurisdiction in which 
the nature of its business or properties makes such qualification necessary, 
and to the best actual knowledge of the Trust, the Trust is in material 
compliance with all laws, regulations, ordinances and orders of public 
authorities applicable to the Trust. 

(iii) The Trust is and has been expressly authorized, either by the terms 
of its trust instrument or such other instrument or articles prescribing its 
creation or by the express consent of The City of Oklahoma City, to 
execute this Mortgage in order to pledge the Trust’s fee simple interest in 
the Land to the Lender to secure payment of the Indebtedness and 
performance of Borrower under the Loan Documents.   

(iv) This Mortgage duly authorized, is valid and enforceable, and will 
not violate any provision of law (including, but not limited to, any law 
relating to usury), any order of any court or other agency or government, 
or any indenture, agreement or other instrument to which the Trust is a 
party or by which the Trust or any of its property is bound, or be in 
conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute (with due notice and/or 
lapse of time) a default under any such indenture, agreement or other 
instrument, or violate such articles prescribing the creation of the trust or 
trust agreement, as the case may be, of the Trust, or result in the creation 
or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature 
whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Trust, except as 
contemplated by the Ground Lease and this Mortgage, and no action with 



9 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

respect thereto by the Trust or any governing authority of the Trust is 
required.   

(v) No consent or approval of any regulatory body to the execution, 
delivery and performance of this Mortgage or the transactions 
contemplated thereby is required by law. 

(vi) The Trust has good and marketable title in fee simple to the Land 
and the right to assign the Leases and Rents to Lender free and clear of 
any prior assignment, liens, charges, encumbrances, security interests and 
adverse claims whatsoever, except the Permitted Encumbrances. 

(vii) The Trust has not executed any prior assignment of the Ground 
Lease or of its right, title, interest therein or in the Rents to accrue 
thereunder.  No default by the Trust or JRB under the Ground Lease 
remains uncured. 

(viii) None of the Permitted Encumbrances have materially interfered 
with the operation of the Land, and the Trust does not reasonably foresee 
any material interference arising from the Permitted Encumbrances during 
the terms of the Notes.  

(ix) The Trust has filed all Federal, state, county and municipal income 
tax returns required to have been filed by the Trust, if any, and has paid all 
taxes which have become due, if any, pursuant to any assessments 
received by them, and the Trust does not know of any basis for additional 
assessment in respect to such taxes. 

(x) The Mortgaged Property is being, and will continue to be, used for 
commercial purposes. 

(xi) To the best of the Trust’s actual knowledge, no release of 
Hazardous Substances (a “Release”) has occurred on the Land.  The Trust 
has not received any notice from any governmental agency or from any 
tenant under a Lease or from any other party with respect to any such 
Release. 

(xii) As of the date hereof and throughout the term of this Mortgage, (i) 
the Trust is not and will not be an “employee benefit plan” as defined in 
Section 3(3) of ERISA, which is subject to Title I of ERISA; (ii) the assets 
of the Trust do not and will not constitute “plan assets” of one or more 
such plans for purposes of Title I of ERISA; (iii) the Trust is not and will 
not be a “governmental plan” within the meaning of Section 3(32) of 
ERISA; and (iv) transactions by or with the Trust are not and will not be 
subject to state statutes applicable to the Trust regulating investments of 
and fiduciary obligations with respect to governmental plans.  The Trust 
shall deliver to Lender such certifications or other evidence as requested 
by Lender from time to time of the Trust’s compliance with the foregoing 
covenant. 

(xiii) There is no financing statement covering all or any part of the 
Land or its proceeds on file in any public office. 

(xiv) The Trust is not a “foreign person” within the meaning of the 
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Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (hereinafter called the 
“Code”), Section 1445 and 7701 (i.e., The Trust is not a non-resident 
alien, foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust or foreign 
estate as those terms are defined in the Code and regulations promulgated 
thereunder). 

 

(b) JRB hereby represents and warrants to Lender that: 

(i) JRB is qualified to do business in every jurisdiction in which the 
nature of its business or properties makes such qualification necessary, 
and to the best actual knowledge of JRB, Grantors, Borrower and 
Guarantors are in material compliance with all laws, regulations, 
ordinances and orders of public authorities applicable to JRB, Grantors, 
Borrower or Guarantors, as the case may be. 

(ii) The Loan Documents are duly authorized, are valid and 
enforceable, and will not violate any provision of law (including, but not 
limited to, any law relating to usury), any order of any court or other 
agency or government, or any indenture, agreement or other instrument to 
which JRB, Borrower or Guarantors is a party or by which JRB, Borrower 
or Guarantors or any of its property is bound, or be in conflict with, result 
in a breach of or constitute (with due notice and/or lapse of time) a default 
under any such indenture, agreement or other instrument, or violate the 
articles of incorporation or by-laws, the partnership agreement, the 
operating agreement or the trust agreement, as the case may be, of JRB, 
Borrower or Guarantors, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, 
charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property 
or assets of JRB, except as contemplated by the Loan Documents, and no 
action with respect thereto by JRB, Borrower or Guarantors is required.   

(iii) No consent or approval of any regulatory body to the execution, 
delivery and performance of the Loan Documents or the transactions 
contemplated thereby is required by law. 

(iv) There are no suits, proceedings or investigations pending or 
threatened against or affecting JRB, at law or in equity, or before or by 
any governmental or administrative agency or instrumentality which, if 
adversely determined, would have a material adverse effect on the 
business or condition of JRB. 

(v) No judgment, decree or order of any court or governmental or 
administrative agency or instrumentality has been issued against JRB 
which has or may have any material adverse effect on the business or 
condition of JRB. 

(vi) All information, reports, papers and data given to Lender with 
respect to JRB, Borrower, or others obligated under the terms of the Loan 
Documents are accurate and correct in all material respects and complete 
insofar as completeness may be necessary to give Lender a true and 
accurate knowledge of the subject matter thereof. 
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(vii) JRB has good and marketable title to the leasehold estate created 
under the Ground Lease, and JRB has good and marketable fee title to the 
Buildings, Fixtures and Personalty, and the right to assign the Ground 
Lease and Leases and Rents to Lender free and clear of any prior 
assignment, liens, charges, encumbrances, security interests and adverse 
claims whatsoever, except the Permitted Encumbrances. 

(viii) JRB has not executed any prior assignment of the Ground Lease or 
Leases or of its right, title, interest therein or in the Rents to accrue 
thereunder.  No default by JRB or the Trust under the Ground Lease or 
any other person under the Leases remains uncured. 

(ix) None of the Permitted Encumbrances have materially interfered 
with the operation of the Mortgaged Property, and JRB does not 
reasonably foresee any material interference arising from the Permitted 
Encumbrances during the terms of the Notes.  

(x) JRB has filed all Federal, state, county and municipal income tax 
returns required to have been filed by JRB, if any, and has paid all taxes 
which have become due, if any, pursuant to any assessments received by 
them, and JRB does not know of any basis for additional assessment in 
respect to such taxes. 

(xi) The Mortgaged Property is being, and will continue to be, used for 
commercial purposes. 

(xii) To the best of JRB’s actual knowledge, no release of Hazardous 
Substances (a “Release”) has occurred on the Land.  JRB has not received 
any notice from any governmental agency or from the Trust or any tenant 
under a Lease or from any other party with respect to any such Release. 

(xiii) As of the date hereof and throughout the term of this Mortgage, (i) 
JRB is not and will not be an “employee benefit plan” as defined in 
Section 3(3) of ERISA, which is subject to Title I of ERISA; (ii) the assets 
of JRB do not and will not constitute “plan assets” of one or more such 
plans for purposes of Title I of ERISA; (iii) JRB is not and will not be a 
“governmental plan” within the meaning of Section 3(32) of ERISA; and 
(iv) transactions by or with JRB are not and will not be subject to state 
statutes applicable to JRB regulating investments of and fiduciary 
obligations with respect to governmental plans.  JRB shall deliver to 
Lender such certifications or other evidence as requested by Lender from 
time to time of JRB’s compliance with the foregoing covenant. 

(xiv) There is no financing statement covering all or any part of the 
Mortgaged Property or the Personalty or its proceeds on file in any public 
office. 

(xv) All tangible Personalty is located on the Land. 

(xvi) JRB is not a “foreign person” within the meaning of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (hereinafter called the “Code”), 
Section 1445 and 7701 (i.e., JRB is not a non-resident alien, foreign 
corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust or foreign estate as those 
terms are defined in the Code and regulations promulgated thereunder). 
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Section 4.13 Mechanics’ Lien.  Grantors shall not permit or suffer any mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other lien to be created or to remain a lien upon any of the Mortgaged Property, 
provided, however, so long as Grantors have bonded or otherwise caused to release thereof, 
Grantors shall have the right to contest in good faith and by appropriate proceedings any such 
liens on the Mortgaged Property. 

Section 4.14 Hazardous Substances.   

(a) Without limiting the generality of Section 4.01 hereof, Grantors shall not 
cause or permit the violation of any law relating to industrial hygiene or environmental 
conditions in connection with the Mortgaged Property, including without limitation, soil 
and ground water conditions; or use, generate, manufacture, store or dispose of any 
Hazardous Substances on, under or about the Mortgaged Property, except in accordance 
with all applicable laws.  

(b) Grantors shall indemnify and hold Lender harmless from any loss, 
damage, liability, cost, expense and/or claim (including without limitation the cost of any 
fines, remedial action, damage to the environment and cleanup, court related costs and 
the fees of attorneys and other experts) arising from (i) the use, Release or disposal of any 
Hazardous Substances on, under or about the Mortgaged Property or the transport of any 
Hazardous Substances to or from the Mortgaged Property; and (ii) the violation of any 
law relating to industrial hygiene or environmental conditions in connection with the 
Mortgaged Property, including soil and ground water conditions; and (iii) the breach of 
any of the representations, warranties and covenants of Grantors with respect to 
Hazardous Substances set forth in this Section, Section 4.12 hereof.  JRB shall further 
indemnify and hold Lender harmless from any loss, damage, liability, cost, expense 
and/or claim (including without limitation the cost of any fines, remedial action, damage 
to the environment and cleanup, court related costs and the fees of attorneys and other 
experts) arising from the breach of any of the representations, warranties and covenants 
of Borrower with respect to that certain Hazardous Substances Indemnification 
Agreement of even date herewith. 

Section 4.15 Waste.  JRB agrees not to abandon the Mortgaged Property, or any part 
thereof, or leave the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, unprotected, unguarded or deserted 
and not to cause or permit waste to the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof. 

Section 4.16 Patriot Act.  On the date hereof and during the term of this Mortgage: 

(a) None of the funds or other assets of Grantors or of any affiliates of 
Grantors constitute property of, or are beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by, any 
person subject to trade restrictions under the laws of the United States, including those 
who are covered by the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. 
§§1701 et seq., The Trading with the Enemy Act, 50 U.S.C. App. 1 et seq., and any 
executive orders or regulations promulgated thereunder (an “Embargoed Person”) with 
the result that Lender Exposure (as hereinafter defined) will occur; (ii) no Embargoed 
Person has any interest of any nature whatsoever (whether directly or indirectly) in 
Grantor with the result that Lender Exposure will occur; and (iii) none of the funds of 
Grantor have been derived from any unlawful activity with the result that Lender 
Exposure will occur.  For the purposes hereof, “Lender Exposure” shall mean any one or 
more of the following: (w) the Loans are in violation of applicable law, or (x) the 
Mortgaged Property, the Personalty, or any other collateral for the Loans or any portion 
thereof (including, without limitation, the Rents or other income to be derived therefrom) 
is subject to forfeiture or to being frozen, seized, sequestered or otherwise impaired by 
any governmental authority, or (y) the Loans or any payments made or to be made in 
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respect thereof (including, without limitation, principal and interest) is subject to 
forfeiture or to being frozen, seized, sequestered or otherwise impaired by a 
governmental authority or Lender or any of Lender’s collateral for the Loans or the lien 
priority thereof or any of Lenders’ rights or remedies in respect of the Loans or the 
collateral therefor is otherwise impaired or adversely affected, or (z) Lender is subject to 
criminal or civil liability or penalty. 

(b) Neither Grantors nor any of their respective direct or indirect owners is in 
violation of the U.S. Federal Bank Secrecy Act, as amended, and its implementing 
regulations (31 CFR Chapter X), the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing 
Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, Public Law 
107-56 and the regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, the “Patriot Act”), any 
order issued with respect to anti-money laundering by the U.S. Department of the 
Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), or any other anti-money 
laundering law with the result that Lender Exposure will occur. 

(c) Neither Grantors nor any of their respective direct or indirect owners is a 
person with whom people of the United States are restricted from doing business with 
under (a) regulations issued by OFAC (including those persons and entities named on 
OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked persons list) or under any law of 
the United States (including the September 24, 2001, Executive Order Blocking Property 
and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or 
Support Terrorism) or (b) any other law, if, with respect to either clause (a) or (b), Lender 
Exposure will occur.  Without limiting the foregoing, Grantors are not presently funding 
Grantors’ obligations hereunder with funds from any of the persons referred to in this 
paragraph (c) if Lender Exposure will occur. 

Section 4.17 Reserved. 

Article 5 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

The term “Event(s) of Default”, as used herein and in the Loan Documents, shall have the 
meaning ascribed to such term in the Loan Agreement.   

Article 6 

DEFAULT AND FORECLOSURE 

Section 6.01 Remedies.  If an Event of Default shall occur, Lender may, at its option, 
exercise any one, more or all of the following remedies: 

(a) Acceleration.  Declare the unpaid portion of the Indebtedness to be 
immediately due and payable, without further notice or demand (each of which hereby is 
expressly waived by Grantors), whereupon the same shall become immediately due and 
payable. 

(b) Entry on Mortgaged Property.  Enter upon the Mortgaged Property and 
take possession thereof and of all books, records, and accounts relating thereto. 

(c) Operation of Mortgaged Property.  Hold, lease, operate or otherwise use or 
permit the use of the Mortgaged Property, or any portion thereof, in such manner, for 
such time and upon such terms as Lender may deem to be in its best interest (making 
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such repairs, alterations, additions and improvements thereto, from time to time, as 
Lender shall deem necessary or desirable) and collect and retain all earnings, rents, 
profits or other amounts payable in connection therewith. 

(d) Enforcement of Mortgage.  Lender, with or without entry, personally or by 
its agents or attorneys, insofar as applicable, may: 

(i) elect to use the non-judicial Power of Sale which is hereby 
conferred under the terms of this Mortgage.  Such Power of Sale shall be 
exercised by giving Grantors (or either one) Notice of Intent to Foreclose 
by Power of Sale and setting forth among other things, the nature of the 
breach(es) or default(s) and the action required to effect a cure thereof and 
the time period within which such cure may be effected all in compliance 
with Title 46 Oklahoma Statutes §§ 40 et. seq. (Oklahoma Power of Sale 
Mortgage Foreclosure Act), as the same may be amended from time to 
time or other applicable statutory authority.  If no cure is effected within 
the statutory time limits, Lender may accelerate the Indebtedness without 
further notice (the aforementioned statutory cure period shall run 
concurrently with any contractual provision for notice and/or cure period 
before acceleration of debt) and may then proceed in the manner and 
subject to the conditions of the above referenced statutes to send to 
Grantors (or either one) and other necessary parties a Notice of Sale and to 
sell and convey the Mortgaged Property in accordance with the above 
referenced statute.  The sale shall be made at one or more sales, as an 
entirety or in parcels, upon such notice, at such time and places, subject to 
all conditions and with the proceeds thereof to be applied all as provided 
in said Oklahoma Power of Sale Mortgage Foreclosure Act.  No action of 
Lender based upon the provisions contained herein or contained in the 
Oklahoma Power of Sale Mortgage Foreclosure Act, including, without 
limitation, the giving of the Notice of Intent to Foreclose by Power of Sale 
or the Notice of Sale, shall constitute an election of remedies which would 
preclude Lender from pursuing judicial foreclosure before or at any time 
after commencement of the power of sale foreclosure procedure; and 

(ii) Whether or not proceedings have commenced by the exercise of 
the power of sale above given, Lender or the holder or holders of any of 
the Indebtedness secured by the Mortgage, in lieu of proceeding with the 
power of sale, may at its (their) option (after any applicable contractual 
cure period has expired without such default being cured) declare the 
whole amount of the Indebtedness secured by this Mortgage remaining 
unpaid, immediately due and payable without notice, and proceed by suit 
or suits in equity or at law to foreclose this Mortgage.  Appraisement of 
the Mortgaged Property is hereby waived or not waived at the option of 
Lender, such option to be exercised at or prior to the time judgment is 
rendered in such judicial foreclosure.  The Mortgaged Property may be 
sold as one parcel or in such parcels as Lender may elect unless otherwise 
provided by law. 

(e)  Receiver.  Without regard to Lender’s election of non-judicial power of 
sale foreclosure or judicial foreclosure and without regard to the value or occupancy of 
the security, or the solvency of Borrower, Grantors or any of the Guarantors, or the 
adequacy of the Mortgaged Property as security for the Notes, Lender shall be entitled, as 
a matter of strict right, to appointment of a receiver by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to enter upon and take possession of the Mortgaged Property, collect the 
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Rents and profits therefrom and apply the same as the court may direct, such receiver to 
have all the rights and powers permitted under the laws of the jurisdiction where the 
Mortgaged Property is located.  Grantors hereby waive any requirements on the receiver 
or Lender to post any surety or other bond.  Lender or the receiver may also take 
possession of, and for these purposes use, any and all Personalty which is a part of the 
Mortgaged Property and used by Grantors (or either one) in the rental or leasing thereof 
or any part thereof.  The expense (including the receiver’s fees, counsel fees, costs and 
agent’s compensation) incurred pursuant to the powers herein contained shall be secured 
by this Mortgage.  Lender shall (after payment of all costs and expenses incurred) apply 
such Rents, issues and profits received by it on the Indebtedness in the order set forth in 
Section 6.07 hereof.  The right to enter and take possession of the Mortgaged Property, to 
manage and operate the same, and to collect the Rents, issues and profits thereof, whether 
by receiver or otherwise, shall be cumulative to any other right or remedy hereunder or 
afforded by law, and may be exercised concurrently therewith or independently thereof.  
Lender shall be liable to account only for such Rents, issues and profits actually received 
by Lender. 

(f) Additional Rights and Remedies.  With or without notice, and without 
releasing Grantors from the obligations of Grantors hereunder and/or Borrower from any 
Indebtedness or Obligations, and without becoming a mortgagee in possession, Lender 
shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cure any breach or default of Grantors 
and/or Borrower and, in connection therewith, by itself or its agents or through a receiver 
appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction, to enter upon the Mortgaged Property and 
to do such acts and things as Lender deems necessary or desirable to protect the security 
hereof including, but without limitation, to appear in and defend any action or proceeding 
purporting to affect the security hereof or the rights or powers of Lender hereunder; to 
pay, purchase, contest or compromise any encumbrance, charge, lien or claim of lien 
which, in the judgment of Lender, is prior or superior hereto, the judgment of Lender 
being conclusive as between the parties hereto; to obtain insurance to pay any premiums 
or charges with respect to insurance required to be carried hereunder; and to employ 
counsel, accountants, contractors and other appropriate persons to assist them. 

(g) Other.  Exercise any other remedy specifically granted under the Security 
Documents or now or hereafter existing in equity, at law, by virtue of statute or 
otherwise, including the rights described below. 

Section 6.02 Separate Sales.  Any real estate or any interest or estate therein sold 
pursuant to any non-judicial proceedings or any writ of execution issued on a judgment obtained 
by virtue of the Notes, this Mortgage or the other Security Documents, or pursuant to any other 
judicial proceedings under this Mortgage or the other Security Documents, may be sold in one 
parcel, as an entirety, or in such parcels, and in such manner or order as Lender, in its sole 
discretion, may elect. 

Section 6.03 Remedies Cumulative and Concurrent.  The rights and remedies of Lender 
as provided in the Notes, this Mortgage and in the Loan Documents shall be cumulative and 
concurrent and may be pursued separately, successively or together against Grantors, Borrower, 
Guarantors or against other obligors or against the Mortgaged Property, or any one or more of 
them, at the sole discretion of Lender, and may be exercised as often as occasion therefor shall 
arise.  The failure to exercise any such right or remedy shall in no event be construed as a waiver 
or release thereof, nor shall the choice of one remedy be deemed an election of remedies to the 
exclusion of other remedies. 

Section 6.04 No Cure or Waiver.  Neither Lender’s nor any receiver’s entry upon and 
taking possession of all or any part of the Mortgaged Property, nor any collection of rents, issues, 
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profits, insurance proceeds, condemnation proceeds or damages, other security or proceeds of 
other security, or other sums, nor the application of any collected sum to any Indebtedness and 
Obligations, nor the exercise of any other right or remedy by Lender or any receiver shall impair 
the status of the security, or cure or waive any default or notice of default under this Mortgage, 
or nullify the effect of any notice of default or sale or prejudice Lender in the exercise of any 
right or remedy, or be construed as an affirmation by Lender of any tenancy, lease or option or a 
subordination of the lien of this Mortgage. 

Section 6.05 Payment of Costs, Expenses and Attorneys’ Fees.  Grantors agree to pay 
to Lender immediately and without demand all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by 
Lender in exercising the remedies under the Notes and Security Documents (including but 
without limitation, court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees at all trial and appellate levels, 
whether incurred in litigation or not) with interest at the Default Rate, from the date of 
expenditure until said sums have been paid.  Lender shall be entitled to bid, at the sale of the 
Mortgaged Property held pursuant to the power of sale granted herein or pursuant to any judicial 
foreclosure of this instrument, the amount of said costs, expenses and interest in addition to the 
amount of the other Indebtedness and Obligations as a credit bid, the equivalent of cash. 

Section 6.06 Waiver of Notice, Marshaling, Etc.  Grantors hereby waive and release 
(a) all benefit that might accrue to Grantors by virtue of any present or future law exempting the 
Mortgaged Property, or any part of the proceeds arising from any sale thereof, from attachment, 
levy or sale on execution, or providing for any stay of execution, exemption from civil process or 
extension of time for payment; (b) unless specifically required herein, all notices of Grantors’ 
and/or Borrower’s default or of Lender’s election to exercise, or Lender’s actual exercise, of any 
option or remedy under the Notes or the Security Documents; and (c) any right to have the liens 
against the Mortgaged Property marshaled. 

Section 6.07 Application of Proceeds.  The proceeds of any sale of all or any portion of 
the Mortgaged Property and the amounts generated by any holding, leasing, operation or other 
use of the Mortgaged Property shall be applied by Lender in the following order: 

(a) first, to the payment of the costs and expenses of taking possession of the 
Mortgaged Property (which are expressly secured hereby) and of holding, using, leasing, 
repairing, improving and selling the same (including, without limitation, payment of any 
Impositions or other taxes); 

(b) second, to the extent allowed by law, to the payment of attorneys’ fees and 
other legal expenses at all trial and appellate levels, including expenses and fees incurred 
on appeals and legal expenses and fees of a receiver; 

(c) third, to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest on the Indebtedness; 
and 

(d) fourth, to the payment of the balance of the Indebtedness. 

The balance, if any, shall be paid to the parties entitled to receive it, including, as 
applicable, Grantor. 

Section 6.08 Strict Performance.  Any failure by Lender to insist upon strict 
performance by Grantors, Borrower and Guarantors of any of the terms and provisions of the 
Security Documents or of the Notes shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any of the terms or 
provisions of the Security Documents or the Notes and Lender shall have the right thereafter to 
insist upon strict performance by Grantors, Borrower or Guarantors of any and all of them. 
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Section 6.09 No Conditions Precedent to Exercise of Remedies.  Neither Borrower nor 
Guarantors or any other person now or hereafter obligated for payment of all or any part of the 
Indebtedness shall be relieved of such obligation by reason of the failure of Lender to comply 
with any request of Grantors, Borrower or Guarantors or of any other person so obligated to take 
action to foreclose on this Mortgage or otherwise enforce any provisions of the Security 
Documents or the Notes, or by reason of the release, regardless of consideration, of all or any 
part of the security held for the Indebtedness, or by reason of any agreement or stipulation 
between any subsequent owner of the Mortgaged Property and Lender extending the time of 
payment or modifying the terms of the Security Documents or Notes without first having 
obtained the consent of Grantors, Borrower or Guarantors or such other person; and in the latter 
event Grantors, Borrower or Guarantors and all such other persons shall continue to be liable to 
make payment according to the terms of any such extension or modification agreement, unless 
expressly released and discharged in writing by Lender. 

Section 6.10 Release of Collateral.  Lender may release, regardless of consideration, 
any part of the security held for the Indebtedness or Obligations without, as to the remainder of 
the security, in any way impairing or affecting the liens of the Security Documents or their 
priority over any subordinate lien.  Without affecting the liability of Borrower or Guarantors or 
any other person (except any person expressly released in writing) for payment of any 
Indebtedness secured hereby or for performance of any Obligations, and without affecting the 
rights of Lender with respect to any security not expressly released in writing, Lender may, at 
any time and from time to time, either before or after maturity of said Notes, and without notice 
or consent:  (a) release any person liable for payment of all or any part of the Indebtedness or for 
performance of any Obligations; (b) make any agreement extending the time or otherwise 
altering terms of payment of all or any part of the Indebtedness, or modifying or waiving any 
Obligation, or subordinating, modifying or otherwise dealing with the lien or charge hereof; 
(c) exercise or refrain from exercising or waive any right Lender may have; (d) accept additional 
security of any kind; and (e) release or otherwise deal with any property, real or personal, 
securing the Indebtedness, including all or any part of the Mortgaged Property. 

Section 6.11 Other Collateral.  For payment of the Indebtedness, Lender may resort to 
any other security therefor held by Lender in such order and manner as Lender may elect. 

Section 6.12 Discontinuance of Proceedings.  In the event Lender shall have proceeded 
to enforce any right under the Notes or the Security Documents and such proceedings shall have 
been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, then in every such case Grantors, Borrower, 
Guarantors and Lender shall be restored to their former positions and the rights, remedies and 
powers of Lender shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken. 

Article 7 

CONDEMNATION 

Section 7.01 Condemnation.  Grantors hereby assign, transfer and set over to Lender all 
rights of Grantors (or either one) to any Awards in respect of (a) any taking of all or a portion of 
the Mortgaged Property as a result of, or by agreement in anticipation of, the exercise of the right 
of condemnation or eminent domain; (b) any such taking of any appurtenances to the Mortgaged 
Property or of vaults, areas or projections outside the boundaries of the Mortgaged Property, or 
rights in, under or above the alleys, streets or avenues adjoining the Mortgaged Property, or 
rights and benefits of light, air, view or access to said alleys, streets, or avenues or for the taking 
of space or rights therein, below the level of, or above the Mortgaged Property; and (c) any 
damage to the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof due to governmental action, but not 
resulting in, a taking of any portion of the Mortgaged Property, such as, without limitation, the 
changing of the grade of any street adjacent to the Mortgaged Property.  Grantors hereby jointly 
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and severally agree to file and prosecute its claim or claims for any such Awards in good faith 
and with due diligence and cause the same to be collected and paid over to Lender, and hereby 
irrevocably authorizes and empowers Lender, in the name of Grantors (or either one) or 
otherwise, to collect and receipt for any such Awards and, in the event Grantors fail to act, or in 
the event that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, to file and prosecute such 
claim or claims. 

Section 7.02 Application of Proceeds.  All Awards received by Lender with respect to a 
taking of all or any part of the Mortgaged Property or with respect to damage to all or any part of 
the Mortgaged Property from governmental action not resulting in a taking of the Mortgaged 
Property, shall be applied as follows, in the order of priority indicated: 

(a) first, to reimburse Lender for all costs and expenses, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees incurred in connection with collecting the said proceeds; 

(b) second, if (a) all of the Mortgaged Property is taken, or (b) so much of the 
Mortgaged Property is taken, or the Mortgaged Property is so diminished in value that the 
remainder thereof cannot, in the reasonable judgment of Lender, continue to be operated 
profitably for the purpose for which it was being used immediately prior to such taking or 
diminution, or (c) an Event of Default shall have been declared hereunder and be 
continuing at the time of said taking or (d) the Mortgaged Property is partially taken or 
diminished in value and, in the reasonable judgment of Lender, cannot be rebuilt, restored 
or repaired in any manner, then in any such event, the remainder of said proceeds shall be 
applied to the payment of interest and principal on the Notes (without premium or 
penalty) in the order determined by Lender in its sole discretion; and any balances 
thereafter remaining shall be paid to Grantors; and 

(c) third, if none of the facts described in (a) through (d) of subsection (ii) 
above exist (or if Lender waives the matters described in (c) of subsection (ii) above), the 
remainder of such proceeds shall be applied to the repair, restoration or replacement of 
the Mortgaged Property so affected by such condemnation, injury or damage and any 
amounts not thus paid over shall be paid to Grantors; provided that, any such proceeds 
held by Lender to be applied to the repair, restoration or replacement of the Mortgaged 
Property as provided above shall be so held with payment or allowance of interest 
thereon and shall be paid out from time to time upon compliance by Grantors with such 
terms, conditions and requirements as may be imposed by Lender. 

Article 8 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.01 Further Assurances.  Grantors, upon the reasonable request of Lender, will 
execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments (including, without limitation, 
financing statements, estoppel certificates and declarations of no set-off) and do such further acts 
as may be necessary, desirable or proper to carry out more effectively the purpose of the Security 
Documents, to facilitate the assignment or transfer of the Notes and the Security Documents, and 
to subject to the liens of the Security Documents, any property intended by the terms thereof to 
be covered thereby, and any renewals, additions, substitutions, replacements or betterments 
thereto.  Upon any failure by Grantors to execute and deliver such instruments, certificates and 
other documents on or before ten (10) days after receipt of written request therefor, Lender may 
make, execute and record any and all such instruments, certificates, and other documents, and 
Grantors irrevocably appoints Lender the agent and attorney-in-fact of Grantors to do so. 
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Section 8.02 Recording and Filing.  JRB, at its expense, will cause the Security 
Documents, all supplements thereto and any financing statements at all times to be recorded and 
filed and re-recorded and re-filed in such manner and in such places as Lender shall reasonably 
request, and will pay all such recording, filing, re-recording and re-filing taxes, fees and other 
charges, including, without limitation, all applicable recording costs, documentary stamps and/or 
intangible taxes. 

Section 8.03 Notice.  Any notices, demands, requests or other communications required 
or permitted hereunder shall be sufficiently given if (i) delivered personally, (ii) sent by 
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested and addressed as listed 
below or to such other address as the party concerned may substitute by written notice to the 
other, or (iii) by electronic mail provided the sending party receives proof of receipt.  All notices 
shall be deemed received on the earlier to occur of three days (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and 
holidays recognized by national banking associations) after being mailed or upon actual receipt: 

To Grantors: JRB Office, LLC 
2802 Country Club Drive 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73116 
Email: bond@heritagetrust.com 
Attention:  S. Bond Payne 

Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust  
105 N. Hudson, Suite 101  
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102  
Email: _______________________ 
Attn: Catherine R. O’Connor 

 
To Lender: RCB Bank 
 701North Broadway 

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma  73102  
Email: rward@bankrcb.net 
 jmeyers@bankrcb.net 
Attention: Ryan L. Ward, Senior Vice President 
       John Meyers, Oklahoma City Market President 

 
With Copy to: Crowe & Dunlevy 

324 N Robinson Ave., Suite 100 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma  73102 
Email: michael.laird@crowedunlevy.com  
 kari.hoffhines@crowedunlevy.com 
Attn:   Michael Laird 
 Kari Hoffhines 

Section 8.04 Lender’s Right to Perform the Obligations.  If Borrower shall fail to make 
any payment or perform any act required by the Notes or Security Documents or Grantors fail to 
perform any act required this Mortgage, then, at any time after the expiration of the applicable 
notice period, if any, without notice to or demand upon Grantors and without waiving or 
releasing any obligation or default, Lender may make such payment or perform such act for the 
account of and at the expense of Borrower or Grantors, as applicable, and shall have the right to 
enter the Mortgaged Property for such purpose and to take all such action thereon and with 
respect to the Mortgaged Property as may be necessary or appropriate for such purpose. All sums 
so paid by Lender, and all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and expenses so incurred together with interest thereon at the Default Rate, from 
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the date of payment or incurring, shall constitute additions to the Indebtedness secured by the 
Security Documents, and shall be paid by Borrower or Grantors, as applicable, to Lender, on 
demand.  If Lender shall elect to pay any Imposition, Lender may do so in reliance on any bill, 
statement or assessment procured from the appropriate public office, without inquiring into the 
accuracy thereof or into the validity of such Imposition.  Grantors shall indemnify Lender for all 
losses and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by reason of any acts 
performed by Lender pursuant to the provisions of this Section and any funds expended by 
Lender to which it shall be entitled to be indemnified, together with interest thereon at the 
Default Rate from the date of such expenditures, shall constitute additions to the Indebtedness 
and shall be secured by the Security Documents and shall be paid by Borrower or Grantors, as 
applicable, to Lender upon demand. 

Section 8.05 Covenants Running with the Land.  All covenants contained in the 
Security Documents shall run with the Mortgaged Property. 

Section 8.06 Severability.  In case any one or more of the Obligations shall be invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity of the Notes, Security Documents and 
remaining Obligations shall be in no way affected, prejudiced or disturbed thereby. 

Section 8.07 Modification.  The Security Documents and the terms of each of them 
may not be changed, waived, discharged or terminated orally, but only by an instrument or 
instruments in writing signed by the party against which enforcement of the change, waiver, 
discharge or termination is asserted. 

Section 8.08 Due on Sale.  The loan evidenced by the Notes and secured by this 
Mortgage is personal to Borrower and Grantors, and Lender made such loan to Borrower based 
upon the credit of Borrower and Guarantors, the Mortgaged Property pledged by Grantors 
hereunder and Lender’s judgment of the ability of Borrower to repay the entire Indebtedness and 
therefore this Mortgage may not be assumed by any subsequent holder of an interest in the 
Mortgaged Property without Lender’s prior written consent.  This Section does not limit the 
effect and generality of Section 3.6 of the Loan Agreement.  Grantor shall notify Lender 
promptly in writing of any transaction or event described in Section 3.6 of the Loan Agreement. 

Section 8.09 Tax on Indebtedness or Mortgage.  In the event of the passage, after the 
date of this Mortgage, of any law deducting from the value of land for the purposes of taxation, 
any lien thereon, or imposing upon Lender the obligation to pay the whole, or any part, of the 
taxes or assessments or charges or liens herein required to be paid by Grantors, or changing in 
any way the laws relating to the taxation of mortgages or debts as to affect this Mortgage or the 
Indebtedness, the entire unpaid balance of the Indebtedness shall, at the option of Lender, after 
twenty (20) days written notice to Grantors and Borrower, become due and payable; provided, 
however, that if, in the opinion of Lender’s counsel, it shall be lawful for Grantors or Borrower 
to pay such taxes, assessments, or charges, or to reimburse Lender therefor, then there shall be no 
such acceleration of the time for payment of the unpaid balance of the Indebtedness if a mutually 
satisfactory agreement for reimbursement, in writing, is executed by Grantors and Borrower and 
delivered to Lender within the aforesaid period. 

Section 8.10 Maximum Rate of Interest.  Notwithstanding any provision in this 
Mortgage, or in any instrument now or hereafter relating to or securing the Indebtedness 
evidenced by the Notes, the total liability for payments of interest and payments in the nature of 
interest, including, without limitation, all charges, fees, exactions, or other sums which may at 
any time be deemed to be interest, shall not exceed the limit imposed by applicable usury laws.  
In the event the total liability for payments of interest and payments in the nature of interest, 
including without limitation, all charges, fees, exactions or other sums which may at any time be 
deemed to be interest, shall, for any reason whatsoever, result in an effective rate of interest, 
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which for any month or other interest payment period exceeds the limit imposed by the 
applicable usury laws, all sums in excess of those lawfully collectible as interest for the period in 
question shall, without further agreement or notice by, between, or to any party hereto, be 
applied to the reduction of the Indebtedness immediately upon receipt of such sums by Lender, 
with the same force and effect as though Borrower had specifically designated such excess sums 
to be so applied to the reduction of the Indebtedness and Lender had agreed to accept such sums 
as a premium-free payment of the Indebtedness, provided, however, that Lender may, at any time 
and from time to time, elect, by notice in writing to Borrower, to waive, reduce, or limit the 
collection of any sums (or refund to Borrower any sums collected) in excess of those lawfully 
collectible as interest rather than accept such sums as a prepayment of the Indebtedness. 

Section 8.11 Survival of Warranties and Covenants.  The warranties, representations, 
covenants and agreements set forth in the Security Documents shall survive the making of the 
loans and the execution and delivery of the Notes, and shall continue in full force and effect until 
the Indebtedness shall have been paid in full, except such obligations as specified in Section 4.14 
hereof and the obligations contained in the Hazardous Substances Indemnification Agreement 
and the Building Laws Indemnification Agreement, each of even date herewith, which shall 
survive. 

Section 8.12 Applicable Law.  The Security Documents shall be governed by and 
construed according to the laws of the State of Oklahoma. 

Section 8.13 Loan Expenses.  JRB shall pay all costs and expenses in connection with 
the preparation, execution, delivery, administration and performance of the Notes and the 
Security Documents, including (but not limited to) reasonable fees and disbursements of its and 
Lender’s counsel, broker’s fees, recording costs and expenses, conveyance fee, documentary 
stamp, mortgage recordation taxes, intangible and other taxes, surveys, appraisals and policies of 
title insurance, physical damage insurance, and liability insurance. 

Section 8.14 Protection and Defense of Lien.  If the validity or priority of this Mortgage 
or of any rights, titles, liens or security interests created or evidenced hereby with respect to the 
Mortgaged Property or any part thereof shall be endangered or questioned or shall be attacked 
directly or indirectly or if any legal proceedings are instituted against Grantors (or either one) 
with respect thereto, Grantors will give prompt written notice thereof to the Lender and at JRB’s 
own cost and expense will diligently endeavor to cure any defect that may be developed or 
claimed, and will take all necessary and proper steps for the defense of such legal proceedings, 
including but not limited to the employment of counsel, the prosecution or defense of litigation 
and the release or discharge of all adverse claims, and the Lender, or either of them (whether or 
not named as parties to legal proceedings with respect thereto) are hereby authorized and 
empowered to take such additional steps as in their judgment and discretion may be necessary or 
proper for the defense of any such legal proceedings or the protection of the validity or priority 
of this Mortgage and the rights, titles, liens and security interests created or evidenced hereby, 
including but not limited to the employment of counsel, the prosecution or defense of litigation, 
the compromise or discharge of any adverse claims made with respect to the Mortgaged 
Property, the purchase of any tax title and the removal of prior liens or security interests 
(including but not limited to the payment of debts as they mature or the payment in full of 
matured or non-matured debts, which are secured by these prior liens or security interests), and 
all expenses so incurred of every kind and character shall be a demand obligation owing by 
Grantor and the party incurring such expenses shall be subrogated to all rights of the person 
receiving such payment 

Section 8.15 No Representations by Lender.  By accepting or approving anything 
required to be observed, performed or fulfilled or to be given to Lender, pursuant to the Security 
Documents, including (but not limited to) any officer’s certificate, survey, appraisal or insurance 
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policy, Lender shall not be deemed to have warranted or represented the sufficiency, legality, 
effectiveness or legal effect of the same, or of any term, provision or condition thereof, and such 
acceptance or approval thereof shall not be or constitute any warranty or representation with 
respect thereto by Lender. 

Section 8.16 Future Advances.  This Mortgage secures such future or additional 
advances (in addition to the principal amounts of the Notes) as may be made by the Lender or the 
holder hereof, at its exclusive option, to the Borrower or its successors or assigns in title, for any 
purpose, provided that all such advances are made within twenty (20) years from the date of this 
Mortgage or within such lesser period of time as may be provided hereafter by law as a 
prerequisite for the sufficiency of actual notice or record notice of such optional future or 
additional advances as against the rights of creditors or subsequent purchasers for valuable 
consideration to the same extent as if such future or additional advances were made on the date 
of the execution of this Mortgage.  The total amount of indebtedness secured by this Mortgage 
may be increased or decreased from time to time, but the total unpaid balance so secured at any 
one time shall not exceed the maximum principal amount equal to twice the original principal 
sum evidenced by the Notes plus interest thereon and any disbursements made under this 
Mortgage or the Security Documents made for the payment of Impositions, levies, insurance, or 
otherwise, with interest on such disbursements. 

Section 8.17 Headings.  The article headings and the section and subsection captions 
are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall in no way alter or modify the text of 
such articles, sections and subsections. 

Section 8.18 Power of Sale.  In addition to the option to foreclose this Mortgage, 
upon the occurrence of any default of any kind, Grantors hereby expressly grant to Lender 
a power of sale and Lender shall be empowered and entitled, at its option, to sell the 
Mortgaged Premises in accordance with the Oklahoma Power of Sale Mortgage 
Foreclosure Act, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

Section 8.19 No Guaranty.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Lender 
and the Trust acknowledge and agree that the Trust is not an obligor on or guarantor of the Notes 
or any obligations under the Loan Agreement or Loan Documents (other than this Mortgage) and 
the Trust is not an obligor on the Indebtedness, except with respect to costs and expenses payable 
by the Trust pursuant to this Mortgage or amounts expended or advanced by Lender to discharge 
the Trust’s obligations or reasonable expenses incurred by Lender to enforce the Trust’s 
obligations under this Mortgage, together with interest on such amounts as provided in this 
Mortgage. 

[Signatures appear on following page.] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantors have executed this Mortgage as of the date first 
above written. 

“JRB” JRB OFFICE, LLC,  
an Oklahoma limited liability company 

By: JRB Holdings LLC, an Oklahoma limited 
liability company, its Manager 

 
 
By:  ______________________________________ 

 S. Bond Payne, Manager 

“TRUST” OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL AND 
CULTURAL FACILITIES TRUST, a public trust 

By: _____________________________________ 
     Name: David E. Rainbolt 
     Title: Chairman 

ATTEST: (seal) 

 

________________________ 
Catherine O’Connor, 
Assistant Secretary 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 
STATE OF OKLAHOMA               § 
                                                          § 
COUNTY OF _______________    § 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __ day of _____________, 
2016, S. Bond Payne, as Manager of JRB Holding LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, 
the Manager of JRB Office, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company.        
 
                                                                         
Notary Public, State of Oklahoma 
 
My Commission Expires:                                             (SEAL)  
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STATE OF OKLAHOMA               § 
                                                          § 
COUNTY OF _______________    § 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __ day of _____________, 
2016, by David E. Rainbolt, Chairman of the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities 
Trust, a public trust, on behalf of said trust.        
 
                                                                         
Notary Public, State of Oklahoma 
 
My Commission Expires:                                             (SEAL)            
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EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Land 

Lots 27 through 40, both inclusive, in Block 27 of Supplemental Plat of Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma County, Oklahoma, according to the plats recorded in Book 1 of Plats, Page 11. 
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EXHIBIT B 

Description of Collateral 

The Collateral consists of the property, rights, interests and estates described below which are 
now owned, or are hereafter acquired by Grantors.  Unless otherwise defined herein or unless 
otherwise required by the context hereof, capitalized terms used herein will have the meanings 
ascribed to those terms in a certain Mortgage with Power of Sale, Assignment of Leases and 
Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing Financing Statement (the “Mortgage”), executed 
by Grantors in favor of Lender. 

The Collateral consists of the following: 

All equipment, machinery, fixtures, goods, inventory, accounts, deposit accounts, money, 
general intangibles, documents, documents of title, instruments and chattel paper, as those terms 
are defined in the Uniform Commercial Code, and all other personal property of every kind and 
description, whether now existing or hereafter acquired, now or at any time hereafter attached to, 
erected upon, situated in or upon, forming a part of, appurtenant to, used in the construction of or 
in connection with, or arising from the use or enjoyment of all or any portion of, or from any 
lease or agreement pertaining to, the real property described in Exhibit A attached to the 
Mortgage (the “Property”), but excluding the personal property of tenants or owners of a unit on 
the Property, unless Grantors (or either one) have acquired an interest therein, and including, 
without limitation: 

A) All income, rents, royalties, revenue, issues, profits, proceeds and other benefits 
from any and all of the Property; 

B) All deposits made with or other security given to utility companies by Grantors 
(or either one) with respect to the Property and the improvements thereon, and all 
advance payments of insurance premiums made by Grantors (or either one) with 
respect thereto and all claims or demands relating to such deposits, other security 
and/or such insurance; 

C) All fixtures now or hereafter affixed to the Property, including all buildings, 
structures and improvements of every kind and description now or hereafter 
erected or placed thereon and any and all machinery, motors, elevators, boilers, 
equipment (including, without limitation, all equipment for the generation or 
distribution of air, water, heat, electricity, light, fuel or refrigeration or for 
ventilating or air conditioning purposes or for sanitary or drainage purposes or for 
the removal of dust, refuse or garbage), partitions, appliances, furniture, 
furnishing, building service equipment, building materials, supplies, ranges, 
refrigerators, cabinets, laundry equipment, computers and software, radios, 
television, awnings, window shades, Venetian blinds, drapes and drapery rods and 
brackets, screens, carpeting and other floor coverings, lobby furnishings, central 
courtyard water fixture fountain, filter and circulating equipment, elevators, 
cleaning and sprinkler systems, fire extinguishing apparatus and equipment, 
incinerators and other property of every kind and description now or hereafter 
placed, attached, affixed or installed in such buildings, structures, or 
improvements (all of such fixtures being referred to hereinafter as the 
“Improvements”); 

D) All damages, royalties and revenue of every kind, nature and description 
whatsoever that Grantors may be entitled to receive, either before or after any 
default under any of the loan documents secured by the security interest 
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evidenced hereby, from any person or entity owning or having or hereafter 
acquiring a right to the oil, gas or mineral rights and reservations of the Property; 

E) All proceeds and claims arising on account of any damages to or taking of the 
Property or the Improvements thereon or any part thereof, and all causes of action 
and recoveries for any loss or diminution in the value of the Property or the 
Improvements; 

F) All licenses (including, but not limited to, any operating licenses or similar 
licenses), contracts, management contracts or agreements, franchise agreements, 
permits, authorities or certificates required or used in connection with the 
construction, ownership, operation or maintenance of the Improvements; 

G) All present and future accounts, general intangibles, chattel paper, contract rights, 
deposit accounts, instruments and documents as those terms are defined in the 
Uniform Commercial Code, now or hereafter relating or arising with respect to 
the Property and for the use thereof or any improvements thereto, including 
without limitation; (i) all rights to the payment of money, including escrow 
proceeds arising out of the sale or other disposition of all or any portion of the 
Property; (ii) all plans, specification and drawings relating to the development of 
the Property and/or any construction thereon; (iii) all use permits, occupancy 
permits, development agreements, construction and building permits and all other 
permits and approvals required by any governmental or quasi-governmental 
authority in connection with the development, construction, use, occupancy or 
operation of the Property; (iv) any and all agreements relating to the development, 
construction, use, occupancy and for operation of the Property between Grantor 
and any contractor, subcontractor, project manager or supervisor, architect, 
engineer, laborer or supplier of materials; (v) all lease or rental agreements; 
(vi) all names under which the property is now or hereafter known and all rights 
to carry on business under any such names or any variant thereof; (vii) all 
goodwill relating to the Property and for the development, construction, use, 
occupancy or operation thereof; (viii) all insurance proceeds and condemnation 
awards arising out of or incidental to the ownership, development, construction, 
use, occupancy or operation of the Property; (ix) all reserves, deferred payments, 
deposits, refunds, cost savings, bonds, insurance policies and payments of any 
kind relating to the Property; (x) all loan commitments issued to Grantor in 
connection with any sale or financing of the Property; and (xi) all supplements, 
modifications and amendments to the foregoing; 

H) All water rights appurtenant to the Property together with all pumping plants, 
pipes, flumes and ditches, all rights to the use of water as well as the rights in 
ditches for irrigation of the Property, all water stock relating to the Property, 
shares of stock or other evidence of ownership of any part of the Property that is 
owned by Grantors (or either one) in common with others, and all documents of 
membership in any owners’ or members’ association or similar group having 
responsibility for managing or operating any part of the Property; 

I) All landscaping, trees and other plants and crops growing on the Property, all 
crops harvested and all net sale proceeds from crops harvested, packed and sold, 
all maintenance buildings and agricultural equipment located on the Property, and 
any and all other property now or hereafter located on or at the Property and used 
in connection with any farming operations conducted upon the Property. 
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J) All replacements, repairs and substitutions of, and accessories, attachments and 
additions to, any of the foregoing. 

K) All proceeds of any of the foregoing, including, without limitation, proceeds of 
any voluntary or involuntary disposition or claim respecting any thereof (pursuant 
to judgment, condemnation award or otherwise) and all goods, documents, 
instruments, general intangibles, chattel paper and accounts, wherever located, 
acquired with cash proceeds of any of the foregoing or proceeds thereof. 

The Collateral also consists of the following: 

All the estate, right, title, interest, claim or demand whatsoever of Grantors, either at law 
or in equity, in and to the Personalty, Fixtures, Ground Lease, Leases and Rents (as those 
capitalized terms are defined below), and all the estate, right, title, interest, claim or 
demand whatsoever of Grantors, either at law or in equity, in and to the Awards (as 
hereinafter defined), or payments with respect to casualties to the Property or 
Improvements. 

As used herein the following terms will have the meanings stated below: 

“Awards” - means all awards and payments made or hereafter to be made by any 
municipal, township, county, state, Federal or other governmental agencies, authorities or 
boards or any other entity having the power of eminent domain to Grantor, including any 
awards and payments for (i) any taking of all or a portion of the Property (as that term is 
defined in the Mortgage), as a result of, or by agreement in anticipation of, the exercise of 
the right of condemnation or eminent domain; (ii) any such taking of any appurtenances 
to the Property or of vaults, areas or projections outside the boundaries of the Property, or 
rights in, under or above the alleys, streets or avenues adjoining the Property, or rights 
and benefits of light, air, view or access to said alleys, streets, or avenues or for the taking 
of space or rights therein, below the level of, or above the Property; and (iii) any damage 
to the Property or any part thereof due to governmental action, but not resulting in, a 
taking of any portion of the Property, such as, without limitation, the changing of the 
grade of any street adjacent to the Property. 

“Fixtures” - means all fixtures located upon or within the Property or Improvements or 
now or hereafter attached to, or installed in, or used in connection with, any of the 
Property or Improvements whether or not permanently affixed to the Property, but 
specifically excluding trade fixtures and personal property to the extent of the right, title 
and interest therein of any tenant under the Ground Lease or any of the Leases. 

“Ground Lease” - means Ground Lease Agreement, dated July 9, 2015, by and between 
the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust, as Landlord, and JRB Parking, 
LLC, as tenant, and all amendments thereto covering or affecting the Property, or any 
part thereof, together with all rights, powers, privileges, options and other benefits of 
Grantors thereunder. 

“Leases” - means any and all leases, subleases, licenses, concessions or grants of other 
possessory interests now or hereafter in force, oral or written, and all amendments thereto 
covering or affecting the Property, or any part thereof, together with all rights, powers, 
privileges, options and other benefits of Grantors (or either one) thereunder. 

“Personalty” - means all furniture, supplies, motor vehicles, tractors, trailers, implements, 
service parts, inventory, equipment, accounts, contract rights, chattel paper, general 
intangibles and all other personal property (other than Fixtures) now owned or hereafter 



 

Error! Unknown document property name. 

acquired by Grantor which is now or hereafter used in connection with the Property and 
the Improvements or located in, upon or about the Property and the Improvements, 
together with all accessions, replacements and substitutions thereto or therefor and the 
proceeds and products thereof. 

“Rents” - means all of the rents, revenues, income, profits, deposits, tenders and other 
benefits payable under the Ground Lease or any Leases and/or arising from the use and 
enjoyment of all or any portion of the Property.  



Agenda Item 743 

 
 

GROUND LEASE ESTOPPEL 

 
December ___, 2016 

 

RCB Bank 
701 North Broadway 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma  73102  

 

Re: Ground Lease between the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities 
Trust, a public trust, as landlord ("Landlord"), and JRB Parking, LLC, an 
Oklahoma limited liability company, as tenant ("Tenant"), dated July 15, 
2015 (the "Ground Lease"), with respect to the land and easements described 
therein (collectively, the "Premises"). 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Landlord understands that RCB Bank ("Lender"), intends to advance to Tenant a certain loan 
(the "Loan") secured by, inter alia, the leasehold interest in the Premises pursuant to a Mortgage 
With Power of Sale, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing 
(the "Mortgage"). Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the 
Ground Lease. Landlord hereby consents to the Mortgage and, in connection therewith, and with 
the understanding that Lender will rely on the matters set forth herein, Landlord hereby certifies 
to Lender and Tenant, and their respective successors and assigns, as follows: 

(a) Landlord is and has been expressly authorized, either by the terms of its 
trust instrument or such other instrument or articles prescribing its creation or by the 
express consent of The City of Oklahoma City, to enter into the Ground Lease with 
Tenant and execute this Ground Lease Estoppel in favor of Lender. 

(b) The Ground Lease, a complete and accurate copy of which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference, is in full force and effect; 
there are no amendments or modifications of any kind to the Ground Lease, recorded or 
otherwise, except as indicated in such Exhibit A; and there are no other promises, 
agreements, understandings or commitments between Landlord and Tenant relating to the 
demise of the Premises. 

(c) The Ground Lease has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by 
Landlord, and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Landlord, and is 
enforceable against Landlord in accordance with its terms. 

(d) No uncured default, event of default or breach by Landlord or, to the best 
of Landlord's knowledge, Tenant exists under the Ground Lease, and no facts or 
circumstances exist that, with notice or the passage of time will or could constitute a 
default, event of default or breach by Landlord or, to the best of Landlord's knowledge, 
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Tenant, under the Ground Lease. Landlord has made no claim alleging default by Tenant 
under the Ground Lease. All representations and warranties of Landlord set forth in the 
Ground Lease are true and correct on the date hereof. 

(e) All rental and other payments due under the Ground Lease have been paid 
in full through July 9, 2016, such date being the first anniversary of the Possession Date. 

(f) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant's obligation to pay fixed rent, base 
rent or any similar rent under the Ground Lease has commenced, and that the Term of the 
Ground Lease expires on July 8, 2114.  

(g) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant has the right to purchase the Premises 
at any time during the Term under the terms in Section 17 of the Ground Lease.   

(h) Landlord has no right to terminate the Ground Lease except strictly in 
accordance with the terms of the Ground Lease upon the occurrence of a default by 
Tenant thereunder (and after the expiration of all applicable notice and cure periods 
provided for in the Ground Lease or required by law) or as otherwise expressly provided 
in the Ground Lease; and Landlord hereby waives any other right it may have to 
terminate the Ground Lease prior to the expiration of its Term. 

(i) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant may execute the Mortgage without 
the consent of Landlord. 

(j) Landlord acknowledges and agrees that the Lender is a “Leasehold 
Mortgagee” and that, upon execution and delivery of the Mortgage to Lender, Lender is 
the holder of all rights granted to the Leasehold Mortgagee under the Ground Lease in 
addition to all other rights granted to Lender in the Mortgage, including without 
limitation, the rights granted pursuant to Section 14 of the Ground Lease.  In addition, 
Landlord acknowledges and agrees that it has received a copy of the Mortgage and that 
all rights of Landlord under the Ground Lease are subject and subordinate to the Lender’s 
rights under the Mortgage in all respects.     

(k) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant is the owner of all buildings and 
improvements located on and/or to be constructed on the Premises. 

(l) Landlord acknowledges that it has approved the Conceptual Plans. 

(m) Landlord agrees to deliver a copy of any and all notices delivered by 
Landlord to Tenant under the Ground Lease to the following addresses: 

RCB Bank 
701 North Broadway 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma  73102 
Attn: John Meyers and Ryan Ward  
 

 with a copy to:  Crowe & Dunlevy  
    324 N. Robinson Ave., Suite 100 
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    Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102 
    Attn: Michael Laird and Kari Hoffhines 

 The address for notices to Landlord under the Ground Lease is: 

    Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust  
    105 N. Hudson, Suite 101  
    Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102  
    Attn: Catherine R. O’Connor  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord has executed this instrument to be effective as of 
the date set forth below Landlord's signature. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: (seal) 

 

________________________ 
Catherine O’Connor, 
Assistant Secretary 

LANDLORD: 

OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL AND 
CULTURAL FACILITIES TRUST, a public 
trust 

By:__________________________________ 
     Name: David E. Rainbolt 
     Title: Chairman 

Date:_________________, 20__ 
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 
STATE OF OKLAHOMA               § 
                                                          § 
COUNTY OF _______________    § 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __ day of _____________, 
2016, by David E. Rainbolt, Chairman of the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities 
Trust, a public trust, on behalf of said trust.        
 
                                                                         
Notary Public, State of Oklahoma 
 
My Commission Expires:                                             (SEAL)            

   



 5  
 

EXHIBIT A 

Ground Lease and all amendments or modifications are attached hereto. 

 



Agenda Item 744 

  12.16.16-2.1 1 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Trustees of the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust 
desire to elect and appoint officers of the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust 
(“Trust”) and to authorize its officers to act for and on behalf of the Trust. 
 
  WHEREAS, the current of the Trust are as follows: 
 

David Rainbolt – Chair 
  Clayton I. Bennett – Vice-chair 
  Lindy Ritz – Vice-chair 
  J. Larry Nichols – Vice-chair and Secretary 
  Robert H. Alexander, Jr. – Vice-chair 
  Catherine R. O’Connor – General Manager and Assistant Secretary 
  Gary Bush – Assistant Secretary 
  John Michael Williams – General Counsel and Assistant Secretary 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Trustees of the Oklahoma City 
Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust that:  
 
 1.  The following are hereby appointed and elected as officers of the Trust, to serve until 
their successors are duly elected and appointed: 
 
  _________________________ – Chair 
 
  ________________ _________– Vice-chair 
 
  _________________________ – Vice-chair 
 
  _________________________ – Vice-chair and Secretary 
 
  _______________ __________– Vice-chair  
 
  Catherine R. O’Connor – General Manager and Assistant Secretary 
  Gary Bush – Assistant Secretary 
  John Michael Williams – General Counsel and Assistant Secretary 
 
 2.  To facilitate trust operations between meeting of the Trustees, the Chair, the Vice-
Chairs in the absence of the Chair, and General Manager, or any one of them, are authorized to 
take actions for and on behalf of the Trust as necessary to conduct the operations and 
management of the Trust, to include matters related to the Journal Record Building and related 
land, pursuit of economic development prospects, and to authorize necessary funding for same; 
the General Counsel is authorized to conduct the legal affairs of the Trust; and, the Secretary and 
Assistant Secretaries are authorized to act on behalf of the Trust consistent with their offices; all 
to be in accordance with best practices and laws applicable to Oklahoma public trusts. 
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 ADOPTED this 19th day of December 2016. 
 
 
      OKLAHOMA CITY INDUSTRIAL AND   
      CULTURAL FACILITIES TRUST 
       
 
 
              
         Chair 
 
(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
  Secretary 
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	UMORTGAGE WITH POWER OF SALE, ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES  AND RENTS, SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIXTURE FILING  U(With Power of Sale)
	Article 1
	UDEFINITIONS
	Section 1.01 Definitions.  As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
	(a) Assignment:  The assignment, contained in Article 3 of this Mortgage, from Grantors to Lender, of all of Grantors’ right, title and interest in and to the Leases and the Rents.
	(b) Awards:  All awards and payments made or hereafter to be made by any municipal, township, county, state, Federal or other governmental agencies, authorities or boards or any other entity having the power of eminent domain to Grantors, including an...
	(c) Borrower: Collectively, JRB Holdings LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, JRB Office, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, and JRB Parking, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company.
	(d) Buildings:  All buildings, improvements, alterations or appurtenances now, or at any time hereafter, located upon the Land or any part thereof.
	(e) Default Rate:  As defined in the Loan Agreement.
	(f) Event(s) of Default:  The happenings and occurrences described in Article 5 of this Mortgage.
	(g) Fixtures:  All goods or other items that are or are to become “Fixtures” (as defined in the UCC), now or hereafter located upon or within the Land or Buildings or now or hereafter attached to, or installed in, or used in connection with, any of th...
	(h) Grantors:  Collectively, JRB Office, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, and the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust, a public trust, and their respective successors and assigns in interest in and to the Mortgaged Property.
	(i) Ground Lease: That certain Ground Lease Agreement, dated July 9, 2015, by and between the Oklahoma City Industrial and Cultural Facilities Trust, as Landlord, and JRB Parking, LLC, as tenant, and all amendments thereto covering or affecting the La...
	(j) Guarantors:  KNABCO, L.L.C., an Oklahoma limited liability company, and GCH Securities, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company.
	(k) Hazardous Substances:  means and includes, without limitation, the following:
	(i) Those substances included within the definitions of “hazardous substances,” “hazardous materials,” “toxic substances,” or “solid waste” in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.),...
	(ii) Those substances listed in the United States Department of Transportation Table (49 CFR Part 172.101 and amendments thereto) or by the Environmental Protection Agency (or any successor agency) as hazardous substances (40 CFR Part 302 and amendmen...
	(iii) Any material, waste or substance which is (a) petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof, natural gas, natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, synthetic gas usable for fuel, or any mixture thereof, (b) asbestos, (c) polychlorinat...
	(iv) Such other substances, materials and wastes which are or become regulated as hazardous or toxic under applicable local, state or federal law, or which are classified as hazardous or toxic under federal, state, or local laws or regulations.
	(l) Impositions:  All (i) real estate and personal property taxes and other taxes and assessments, water and sewer rates and charges, and all other governmental charges and any interest or costs or penalties with respect thereto, and charges for any e...
	(m) Indebtedness:  The principal of and interest on, and all other amounts, costs, expenses, payments and premiums due under the Notes, and all other indebtedness of Grantors and/or Borrower and others to Lender under and/or secured by the Security Do...
	(n) Land:  Any lands, fee interests, leasehold interests, easements, rights of way and other rights of whatever nature or description the description of which is contained in Exhibit “A” attached hereto or is incorporated in Exhibit “A” by reference t...
	(o) Leases:  Any and all leases, subleases, licenses, concessions or grants of other possessory interests now or hereafter in force, oral or written, covering or affecting the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, together with all options therefor...
	(p) Loan Agreement: That certain Construction and Term Loan Agreement of even date herewith, between Borrower and Lender in connection with the Indebtedness.
	(q) Loan Documents:  All documents evidencing or securing the Indebtedness and Obligations, including without limitation, the Loan Agreement, the Security Documents and the Notes.
	(r) Mortgaged Property:  The Land, the Buildings, the Fixtures, the Ground Lease, the Leases and the Rents together with:
	(i) all rights, privileges, profits, permits, licenses, tenements, hereditaments, rights-of-way, easements, appendages and appurtenances of the Land and/or the Buildings belonging or in any way appertaining thereto and all right, title and interest of...
	(ii) all the estate, right, title, interest, claim or demand whatsoever of Grantors, either at law or in equity, in and to the Land, the Buildings, the Fixtures, the Ground Lease, the Leases and the Rents; and
	(iii) all the estate, right, title, interest, claim or demand whatsoever of Grantors, either at law or in equity, in and to the Awards, or payments with respect to casualties.

	(s) Lender:  RCB Bank, and its successors and assigns and the holders, from time to time, of the Notes.
	(t) Borrower:  Collectively, JRB Holdings LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, JRB Office, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company, and JRB Parking, LLC, an Oklahoma limited liability company.
	(u) Notes.  Collectively, (1) the Promissory Note, dated of even date with this Mortgage, in the principal amount of $9,800,000.00, which initially bears a variable rate of interest and matures no later than December ___, 2027, and (2)  the Promissory...
	(v) Obligations:  Any and all of the covenants, promises and other obligations (other than the Indebtedness) made or owing by Grantors and/or Borrower and others to or due to Lender under and/or as set forth in the Notes and/or the Loan Documents, and...
	(w) Permitted Encumbrances:  The Leases and the encumbrances described, with particularity, in the policy of title insurance issued to Lender and insuring the mortgage lien evidenced by this Mortgage.
	(x) Personalty:  All furniture, fixtures, supplies, motor vehicles, tractors, trailers, implements, service parts, inventory, equipment, accounts, contract rights, chattel paper, general intangibles and all other personal property (other than the Fixt...
	(y) Rents:  All of the rents, revenues, income, profits, deposits, tenders and other benefits payable under the Ground Lease and Leases and/or arising from the use and enjoyment of all or any portion of the Mortgaged Property.
	(z) Security Agreement:  The Security Agreement, contained in this Mortgage, wherein and whereby Grantors grant a first priority security interest in the Personalty and the Fixtures to Lender.
	(aa) Security Documents:  This Mortgage, any guaranties executed in connection with the Indebtedness and any and all other documents now or hereafter created securing the payment of the Indebtedness or the observance or performance of the Obligations,...
	(bb) UCC:  The Uniform Commercial Code adopted by the State of Oklahoma.


	Article 2
	UGRANT
	Section 2.01 Grant.  To secure the payment of the Indebtedness and the performance and discharge of the Obligations, Grantors by these presents hereby grant, bargain, sell, assign, mortgage, convey and warrant unto Lender, with power of sale, the Mort...
	Section 2.02 Condition of Grant.  Provided always that if Borrower promptly shall pay the entire Indebtedness as and when the same shall become due and payable and Borrower and Grantors shall observe, perform and discharge the Obligations, then the Se...
	Section 2.03 Doctrine of Merger. Upon the foreclosure of this Mortgage, neither the Ground Lease nor any other assigned Lease shall be destroyed or terminated by application of the doctrine of merger or as a matter of law unless Lender or any purchase...

	Article 3
	USECURITY INTEREST AND ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES AND RENTS
	Section 3.01 Security Agreement.  This Mortgage shall be construed as a mortgage of both real property and personal property and shall also constitute a “Security Agreement” within the meaning of, and shall create a security interest under, the UCC, i...
	Section 3.02 Security Interest.  Grantors hereby grant to Lender a security interest in the Personalty, the Fixtures, the Ground Lease and the Leases and Rents, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, and the proceeds thereof and Lender shall have al...
	Section 3.03 Financing Statements.  Grantors agree that this Mortgage shall be effective as a financing statement filed against Fixtures as a Fixture Filing (as defined in the UCC) under the UCC filed of record in the real estate records of Oklahoma C...
	Section 3.04 Assignment of Leases and Rents.  In order to further secure payment of the Indebtedness and the observance, performance and discharge of the Obligations, Grantors hereby absolutely and irrevocably assigns and transfers to Lender, all of G...

	Article 4
	UCOVENANTS
	Section 4.01 Compliance with Laws.  Grantors will promptly and faithfully comply in all material respects with, conform to and obey all present and future laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and requirements of every duly constituted governmental aut...
	Section 4.02 Payment of Impositions.  Grantors will duly pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and discharged, the Impositions, such Impositions or installments thereof to be paid and a copy of the bill reflecting such Imposition shown as paid provid...
	Section 4.03 Insurance.  Borrower will maintain such insurance coverages as are required in the Loan Agreement.
	Section 4.04 Performance of Leases and Other Agreements.  Grantors will duly and punctually perform all covenants and agreements expressed as binding upon it under the Ground Lease, Leases and other agreements to which it is a party with respect to th...
	Section 4.05 Payment of Rents.  Grantors hereby agree that the respective lessees under the Ground Lease and Leases, upon notice from Lender of the occurrence of an Event of Default, shall thereafter during the continuance of an Event of Default pay t...
	Section 4.06 Inspection.  Grantors will permit Lender, at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, to inspect the Mortgaged Property.  Lender shall have the right to enter onto the Mortgaged Property, at all reasonable times and upon reasonabl...
	Section 4.07 Hold Harmless.  Grantors will defend and hold Lender harmless from any action, proceeding or claim affecting or arising out of Grantors’ use of the Mortgaged Property.  Grantors shall appear in and defend (or pay the expenses of Lender to...
	Section 4.08 Books and Records.  Grantors will maintain full and complete books of account and other records reflecting the results of its operations (in conjunction with its other operations as well as its construction of the Mortgaged Property), in ...
	Section 4.09 Awards.  Grantors will file and prosecute its claim or claims for any Awards in good faith and with due diligence and cause the same to be collected and paid over to Lender, and hereby irrevocably authorizes and empowers Lender, if it so ...
	Section 4.10 Licenses.  Grantors shall keep in full force and effect all licenses, permits and other governmental approvals which are necessary for the operation of the Mortgaged Property and related facilities, and furnish evidence satisfactory to Le...
	Section 4.11 Junior Financing.  Grantors shall not, without the prior written consent of Lender, incur any additional indebtedness or create or permit to be created or to remain, any deed of trust, mortgage, pledge, lien, lease, encumbrance or charge ...
	Section 4.12 Representations and Warranties of Grantors.
	(a) The Trust hereby represents and warrants to Lender that:
	(i) The rights of the Trust under the Ground Lease are subordinate in all respects to the rights of Lender under this Mortgage.
	(ii) The Trust is qualified to do business in every jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or properties makes such qualification necessary, and to the best actual knowledge of the Trust, the Trust is in material compliance with all laws, re...
	(iii) The Trust is and has been expressly authorized, either by the terms of its trust instrument or such other instrument or articles prescribing its creation or by the express consent of The City of Oklahoma City, to execute this Mortgage in order t...
	(iv) This Mortgage duly authorized, is valid and enforceable, and will not violate any provision of law (including, but not limited to, any law relating to usury), any order of any court or other agency or government, or any indenture, agreement or ot...
	(v) No consent or approval of any regulatory body to the execution, delivery and performance of this Mortgage or the transactions contemplated thereby is required by law.
	(vi) The Trust has good and marketable title in fee simple to the Land and the right to assign the Leases and Rents to Lender free and clear of any prior assignment, liens, charges, encumbrances, security interests and adverse claims whatsoever, excep...
	(vii) The Trust has not executed any prior assignment of the Ground Lease or of its right, title, interest therein or in the Rents to accrue thereunder.  No default by the Trust or JRB under the Ground Lease remains uncured.
	(viii) None of the Permitted Encumbrances have materially interfered with the operation of the Land, and the Trust does not reasonably foresee any material interference arising from the Permitted Encumbrances during the terms of the Notes.
	(ix) The Trust has filed all Federal, state, county and municipal income tax returns required to have been filed by the Trust, if any, and has paid all taxes which have become due, if any, pursuant to any assessments received by them, and the Trust do...
	(x) The Mortgaged Property is being, and will continue to be, used for commercial purposes.
	(xi) To the best of the Trust’s actual knowledge, no release of Hazardous Substances (a “Release”) has occurred on the Land.  The Trust has not received any notice from any governmental agency or from any tenant under a Lease or from any other party w...
	(xii) As of the date hereof and throughout the term of this Mortgage, (i) the Trust is not and will not be an “employee benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, which is subject to Title I of ERISA; (ii) the assets of the Trust do not and wi...
	(xiii) There is no financing statement covering all or any part of the Land or its proceeds on file in any public office.
	(xiv) The Trust is not a “foreign person” within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (hereinafter called the “Code”), Section 1445 and 7701 (i.e., The Trust is not a non-resident alien, foreign corporation, foreign partnership...

	(b) JRB hereby represents and warrants to Lender that:
	(i) JRB is qualified to do business in every jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or properties makes such qualification necessary, and to the best actual knowledge of JRB, Grantors, Borrower and Guarantors are in material compliance with ...
	(ii) The Loan Documents are duly authorized, are valid and enforceable, and will not violate any provision of law (including, but not limited to, any law relating to usury), any order of any court or other agency or government, or any indenture, agree...
	(iii) No consent or approval of any regulatory body to the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby is required by law.
	(iv) There are no suits, proceedings or investigations pending or threatened against or affecting JRB, at law or in equity, or before or by any governmental or administrative agency or instrumentality which, if adversely determined, would have a mater...
	(v) No judgment, decree or order of any court or governmental or administrative agency or instrumentality has been issued against JRB which has or may have any material adverse effect on the business or condition of JRB.
	(vi) All information, reports, papers and data given to Lender with respect to JRB, Borrower, or others obligated under the terms of the Loan Documents are accurate and correct in all material respects and complete insofar as completeness may be neces...
	(vii) JRB has good and marketable title to the leasehold estate created under the Ground Lease, and JRB has good and marketable fee title to the Buildings, Fixtures and Personalty, and the right to assign the Ground Lease and Leases and Rents to Lende...
	(viii) JRB has not executed any prior assignment of the Ground Lease or Leases or of its right, title, interest therein or in the Rents to accrue thereunder.  No default by JRB or the Trust under the Ground Lease or any other person under the Leases r...
	(ix) None of the Permitted Encumbrances have materially interfered with the operation of the Mortgaged Property, and JRB does not reasonably foresee any material interference arising from the Permitted Encumbrances during the terms of the Notes.
	(x) JRB has filed all Federal, state, county and municipal income tax returns required to have been filed by JRB, if any, and has paid all taxes which have become due, if any, pursuant to any assessments received by them, and JRB does not know of any ...
	(xi) The Mortgaged Property is being, and will continue to be, used for commercial purposes.
	(xii) To the best of JRB’s actual knowledge, no release of Hazardous Substances (a “Release”) has occurred on the Land.  JRB has not received any notice from any governmental agency or from the Trust or any tenant under a Lease or from any other party...
	(xiii) As of the date hereof and throughout the term of this Mortgage, (i) JRB is not and will not be an “employee benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, which is subject to Title I of ERISA; (ii) the assets of JRB do not and will not cons...
	(xiv) There is no financing statement covering all or any part of the Mortgaged Property or the Personalty or its proceeds on file in any public office.
	(xv) All tangible Personalty is located on the Land.
	(xvi) JRB is not a “foreign person” within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (hereinafter called the “Code”), Section 1445 and 7701 (i.e., JRB is not a non-resident alien, foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign tr...


	Section 4.13 Mechanics’ Lien.  Grantors shall not permit or suffer any mechanic’s, materialmen’s or other lien to be created or to remain a lien upon any of the Mortgaged Property, provided, however, so long as Grantors have bonded or otherwise caused...
	Section 4.14 Hazardous Substances.
	(a) Without limiting the generality of Section 4.01 hereof, Grantors shall not cause or permit the violation of any law relating to industrial hygiene or environmental conditions in connection with the Mortgaged Property, including without limitation,...
	(b) Grantors shall indemnify and hold Lender harmless from any loss, damage, liability, cost, expense and/or claim (including without limitation the cost of any fines, remedial action, damage to the environment and cleanup, court related costs and the...

	Section 4.15 Waste.  JRB agrees not to abandon the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, or leave the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, unprotected, unguarded or deserted and not to cause or permit waste to the Mortgaged Property, or any par...
	Section 4.16 Patriot Act.  On the date hereof and during the term of this Mortgage:
	(a) None of the funds or other assets of Grantors or of any affiliates of Grantors constitute property of, or are beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by, any person subject to trade restrictions under the laws of the United States, including t...
	(b) Neither Grantors nor any of their respective direct or indirect owners is in violation of the U.S. Federal Bank Secrecy Act, as amended, and its implementing regulations (31 CFR Chapter X), the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Approp...
	(c) Neither Grantors nor any of their respective direct or indirect owners is a person with whom people of the United States are restricted from doing business with under (a) regulations issued by OFAC (including those persons and entities named on OF...

	Section 4.17 Reserved.

	Article 5
	UEVENTS OF DEFAULT
	Article 6
	UDEFAULT AND FORECLOSURE
	Section 6.01 Remedies.  If an Event of Default shall occur, Lender may, at its option, exercise any one, more or all of the following remedies:
	(a) Acceleration.  Declare the unpaid portion of the Indebtedness to be immediately due and payable, without further notice or demand (each of which hereby is expressly waived by Grantors), whereupon the same shall become immediately due and payable.
	(b) Entry on Mortgaged Property.  Enter upon the Mortgaged Property and take possession thereof and of all books, records, and accounts relating thereto.
	(c) Operation of Mortgaged Property.  Hold, lease, operate or otherwise use or permit the use of the Mortgaged Property, or any portion thereof, in such manner, for such time and upon such terms as Lender may deem to be in its best interest (making su...
	(d) Enforcement of Mortgage.  Lender, with or without entry, personally or by its agents or attorneys, insofar as applicable, may:
	(i) elect to use the non-judicial Power of Sale which is hereby conferred under the terms of this Mortgage.  Such Power of Sale shall be exercised by giving Grantors (or either one) Notice of Intent to Foreclose by Power of Sale and setting forth amon...
	(ii) Whether or not proceedings have commenced by the exercise of the power of sale above given, Lender or the holder or holders of any of the Indebtedness secured by the Mortgage, in lieu of proceeding with the power of sale, may at its (their) optio...

	(e)  Receiver.  Without regard to Lender’s election of non-judicial power of sale foreclosure or judicial foreclosure and without regard to the value or occupancy of the security, or the solvency of Borrower, Grantors or any of the Guarantors, or the ...
	(f) Additional Rights and Remedies.  With or without notice, and without releasing Grantors from the obligations of Grantors hereunder and/or Borrower from any Indebtedness or Obligations, and without becoming a mortgagee in possession, Lender shall h...
	(g) Other.  Exercise any other remedy specifically granted under the Security Documents or now or hereafter existing in equity, at law, by virtue of statute or otherwise, including the rights described below.

	Section 6.02 Separate Sales.  Any real estate or any interest or estate therein sold pursuant to any non-judicial proceedings or any writ of execution issued on a judgment obtained by virtue of the Notes, this Mortgage or the other Security Documents,...
	Section 6.03 Remedies Cumulative and Concurrent.  The rights and remedies of Lender as provided in the Notes, this Mortgage and in the Loan Documents shall be cumulative and concurrent and may be pursued separately, successively or together against Gr...
	Section 6.04 No Cure or Waiver.  Neither Lender’s nor any receiver’s entry upon and taking possession of all or any part of the Mortgaged Property, nor any collection of rents, issues, profits, insurance proceeds, condemnation proceeds or damages, oth...
	Section 6.05 Payment of Costs, Expenses and Attorneys’ Fees.  Grantors agree to pay to Lender immediately and without demand all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Lender in exercising the remedies under the Notes and Security Documents (includ...
	Section 6.06 Waiver of Notice, Marshaling, Etc.  Grantors hereby waive and release (a) all benefit that might accrue to Grantors by virtue of any present or future law exempting the Mortgaged Property, or any part of the proceeds arising from any sale...
	Section 6.07 Application of Proceeds.  The proceeds of any sale of all or any portion of the Mortgaged Property and the amounts generated by any holding, leasing, operation or other use of the Mortgaged Property shall be applied by Lender in the follo...
	(a) first, to the payment of the costs and expenses of taking possession of the Mortgaged Property (which are expressly secured hereby) and of holding, using, leasing, repairing, improving and selling the same (including, without limitation, payment o...
	(b) second, to the extent allowed by law, to the payment of attorneys’ fees and other legal expenses at all trial and appellate levels, including expenses and fees incurred on appeals and legal expenses and fees of a receiver;
	(c) third, to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest on the Indebtedness; and
	(d) fourth, to the payment of the balance of the Indebtedness.

	Section 6.08 Strict Performance.  Any failure by Lender to insist upon strict performance by Grantors, Borrower and Guarantors of any of the terms and provisions of the Security Documents or of the Notes shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any of th...
	Section 6.09 No Conditions Precedent to Exercise of Remedies.  Neither Borrower nor Guarantors or any other person now or hereafter obligated for payment of all or any part of the Indebtedness shall be relieved of such obligation by reason of the fail...
	Section 6.10 Release of Collateral.  Lender may release, regardless of consideration, any part of the security held for the Indebtedness or Obligations without, as to the remainder of the security, in any way impairing or affecting the liens of the Se...
	Section 6.11 Other Collateral.  For payment of the Indebtedness, Lender may resort to any other security therefor held by Lender in such order and manner as Lender may elect.
	Section 6.12 Discontinuance of Proceedings.  In the event Lender shall have proceeded to enforce any right under the Notes or the Security Documents and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, then in every such case...

	Article 7
	UCONDEMNATION
	Section 7.01 Condemnation.  Grantors hereby assign, transfer and set over to Lender all rights of Grantors (or either one) to any Awards in respect of (a) any taking of all or a portion of the Mortgaged Property as a result of, or by agreement in anti...
	Section 7.02 Application of Proceeds.  All Awards received by Lender with respect to a taking of all or any part of the Mortgaged Property or with respect to damage to all or any part of the Mortgaged Property from governmental action not resulting in...
	(a) first, to reimburse Lender for all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in connection with collecting the said proceeds;
	(b) second, if (a) all of the Mortgaged Property is taken, or (b) so much of the Mortgaged Property is taken, or the Mortgaged Property is so diminished in value that the remainder thereof cannot, in the reasonable judgment of Lender, continue to be o...
	(c) third, if none of the facts described in (a) through (d) of subsection (ii) above exist (or if Lender waives the matters described in (c) of subsection (ii) above), the remainder of such proceeds shall be applied to the repair, restoration or repl...


	Article 8
	UMISCELLANEOUS
	Section 8.01 Further Assurances.  Grantors, upon the reasonable request of Lender, will execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments (including, without limitation, financing statements, estoppel certificates and declarations of no set-of...
	Section 8.02 Recording and Filing.  JRB, at its expense, will cause the Security Documents, all supplements thereto and any financing statements at all times to be recorded and filed and re-recorded and re-filed in such manner and in such places as Le...
	Section 8.03 Notice.  Any notices, demands, requests or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be sufficiently given if (i) delivered personally, (ii) sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested ...
	Section 8.04 Lender’s Right to Perform the Obligations.  If Borrower shall fail to make any payment or perform any act required by the Notes or Security Documents or Grantors fail to perform any act required this Mortgage, then, at any time after the ...
	Section 8.05 Covenants Running with the Land.  All covenants contained in the Security Documents shall run with the Mortgaged Property.
	Section 8.06 Severability.  In case any one or more of the Obligations shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity of the Notes, Security Documents and remaining Obligations shall be in no way affected, prejudiced or distur...
	Section 8.07 Modification.  The Security Documents and the terms of each of them may not be changed, waived, discharged or terminated orally, but only by an instrument or instruments in writing signed by the party against which enforcement of the chan...
	Section 8.08 Due on Sale.  The loan evidenced by the Notes and secured by this Mortgage is personal to Borrower and Grantors, and Lender made such loan to Borrower based upon the credit of Borrower and Guarantors, the Mortgaged Property pledged by Gra...
	Section 8.09 Tax on Indebtedness or Mortgage.  In the event of the passage, after the date of this Mortgage, of any law deducting from the value of land for the purposes of taxation, any lien thereon, or imposing upon Lender the obligation to pay the ...
	Section 8.10 Maximum Rate of Interest.  Notwithstanding any provision in this Mortgage, or in any instrument now or hereafter relating to or securing the Indebtedness evidenced by the Notes, the total liability for payments of interest and payments in...
	Section 8.11 Survival of Warranties and Covenants.  The warranties, representations, covenants and agreements set forth in the Security Documents shall survive the making of the loans and the execution and delivery of the Notes, and shall continue in ...
	Section 8.12 Applicable Law.  The Security Documents shall be governed by and construed according to the laws of the State of Oklahoma.
	Section 8.13 Loan Expenses.  JRB shall pay all costs and expenses in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration and performance of the Notes and the Security Documents, including (but not limited to) reasonable fees and disbu...
	Section 8.14 Protection and Defense of Lien.  If the validity or priority of this Mortgage or of any rights, titles, liens or security interests created or evidenced hereby with respect to the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof shall be endangered...
	Section 8.15 No Representations by Lender.  By accepting or approving anything required to be observed, performed or fulfilled or to be given to Lender, pursuant to the Security Documents, including (but not limited to) any officer’s certificate, surv...
	Section 8.16 Future Advances.  This Mortgage secures such future or additional advances (in addition to the principal amounts of the Notes) as may be made by the Lender or the holder hereof, at its exclusive option, to the Borrower or its successors o...
	Section 8.17 Headings.  The article headings and the section and subsection captions are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall in no way alter or modify the text of such articles, sections and subsections.
	Section 8.18 Power of Sale.  In addition to the option to foreclose this Mortgage, upon the occurrence of any default of any kind, Grantors hereby expressly grant to Lender a power of sale and Lender shall be empowered and entitled, at its option, to ...
	Section 8.19 No Guaranty.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Lender and the Trust acknowledge and agree that the Trust is not an obligor on or guarantor of the Notes or any obligations under the Loan Agreement or Loan Documents (other t...

	My Commission Expires:U                           U                  (SEAL)
	EXHIBIT A
	Legal Description of the Land
	Description of Collateral
	A) All income, rents, royalties, revenue, issues, profits, proceeds and other benefits from any and all of the Property;
	B) All deposits made with or other security given to utility companies by Grantors (or either one) with respect to the Property and the improvements thereon, and all advance payments of insurance premiums made by Grantors (or either one) with respect ...
	C) All fixtures now or hereafter affixed to the Property, including all buildings, structures and improvements of every kind and description now or hereafter erected or placed thereon and any and all machinery, motors, elevators, boilers, equipment (i...
	D) All damages, royalties and revenue of every kind, nature and description whatsoever that Grantors may be entitled to receive, either before or after any default under any of the loan documents secured by the security interest evidenced hereby, from...
	E) All proceeds and claims arising on account of any damages to or taking of the Property or the Improvements thereon or any part thereof, and all causes of action and recoveries for any loss or diminution in the value of the Property or the Improveme...
	F) All licenses (including, but not limited to, any operating licenses or similar licenses), contracts, management contracts or agreements, franchise agreements, permits, authorities or certificates required or used in connection with the construction...
	G) All present and future accounts, general intangibles, chattel paper, contract rights, deposit accounts, instruments and documents as those terms are defined in the Uniform Commercial Code, now or hereafter relating or arising with respect to the Pr...
	H) All water rights appurtenant to the Property together with all pumping plants, pipes, flumes and ditches, all rights to the use of water as well as the rights in ditches for irrigation of the Property, all water stock relating to the Property, shar...
	I) All landscaping, trees and other plants and crops growing on the Property, all crops harvested and all net sale proceeds from crops harvested, packed and sold, all maintenance buildings and agricultural equipment located on the Property, and any an...
	J) All replacements, repairs and substitutions of, and accessories, attachments and additions to, any of the foregoing.
	K) All proceeds of any of the foregoing, including, without limitation, proceeds of any voluntary or involuntary disposition or claim respecting any thereof (pursuant to judgment, condemnation award or otherwise) and all goods, documents, instruments,...
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	(a) Landlord is and has been expressly authorized, either by the terms of its trust instrument or such other instrument or articles prescribing its creation or by the express consent of The City of Oklahoma City, to enter into the Ground Lease with Te...
	(b) The Ground Lease, a complete and accurate copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference, is in full force and effect; there are no amendments or modifications of any kind to the Ground Lease, recorded or o...
	(c) The Ground Lease has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by Landlord, and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Landlord, and is enforceable against Landlord in accordance with its terms.
	(d) No uncured default, event of default or breach by Landlord or, to the best of Landlord's knowledge, Tenant exists under the Ground Lease, and no facts or circumstances exist that, with notice or the passage of time will or could constitute a defau...
	(e) All rental and other payments due under the Ground Lease have been paid in full through July 9, 2016, such date being the first anniversary of the Possession Date.
	(f) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant's obligation to pay fixed rent, base rent or any similar rent under the Ground Lease has commenced, and that the Term of the Ground Lease expires on July 8, 2114.
	(g) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant has the right to purchase the Premises at any time during the Term under the terms in Section 17 of the Ground Lease.
	(h) Landlord has no right to terminate the Ground Lease except strictly in accordance with the terms of the Ground Lease upon the occurrence of a default by Tenant thereunder (and after the expiration of all applicable notice and cure periods provided...
	(i) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant may execute the Mortgage without the consent of Landlord.
	(j) Landlord acknowledges and agrees that the Lender is a “Leasehold Mortgagee” and that, upon execution and delivery of the Mortgage to Lender, Lender is the holder of all rights granted to the Leasehold Mortgagee under the Ground Lease in addition t...
	(k) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant is the owner of all buildings and improvements located on and/or to be constructed on the Premises.
	(l) Landlord acknowledges that it has approved the Conceptual Plans.
	(m) Landlord agrees to deliver a copy of any and all notices delivered by Landlord to Tenant under the Ground Lease to the following addresses:
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